
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 
Riverbank House 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 
DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 

 

 

 

 
Date: 12 February 2021 

 

FULL COUNCIL MEETING 
 

On: Monday 22 February 2021 At: 6.30 pm 

Venue: Virtual Meeting via Zoom with Public Access via YouTube 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube - https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 
Temporary measures during the Coronavirus Pandemic: 

Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in the public forum are advised that 
all Council meetings taking place during the Covid-19 Pandemic will be filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the YouTube channel - https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the aforementioned date and time 
 

 
 

Chief Executive  

 

To: Councillor D Brenton (Chair) 
Councillor P Christie (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: R Boughton, C Bright, M Brown, D Bushby, M Clarke, C Cottle-
Hunkin, R Craigie, A Dart, L Ford, J Gubb, P Hackett, P Hames, S Harding, 
C Hawkins, K Hepple, R Hicks, C Hodson, D Hurley, J Hutchings, T Inch, 
K James, D Jones, S Langford, N Laws, C Leather, R Lock, J Manley, 
D McGeough, J McKenzie, S Newton, P Pennington, G Rossi, P Watson and 
R Wiseman 

 
 

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting 

 

 
 



 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

PART I - (OPEN SESSION) 

  
 

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies for absence from the meeting 
 

2.   Public Contributions  

 15 minute period for public contributions (The deadline for registering to speak is by 
2pm Thursday 18 February 2021. To register please email 
dem.services@torridge.gov.uk). 
 

3.   Declarations of interest  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being discussed. 
 

4.   Agreement of Agenda Items Part I and II  

5.   To consider correspondence or other business especially brought forward by 
the direction of the Chair  

6.   Budget 2021-22,  Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-22 - 2025-26 (Pages 4 - 
38) 

 To receive the report of the Finance Manager & s151 Officer 
 
To also receive the recommendations from External & Internal Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees 
 

7.   Council Tax Resolution (Pages 39 - 44) 

 To receive the report of the Finance Manager & s151 Officer 
 

8.   Treasury Management Report & Capital Strategy (Pages 45 - 75) 

 To receive the report of the Finance Manager and S151 Officer 
 

9.   Pay Policy requirements of the Localism Act (Pages 76 - 81) 

 To receive the report of the Leader and HR & Comms Manager 
 

10.   To answer questions submitted under Procedural Rule A9  

11.   Petitions  

 To receive petitions (if any) 
 

12.   Notices of Motion  

mailto:services@torridge.gov.uk


 
 

 

(a)   Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Cottle-Hunkin  

 I propose that this council considers either freezing the parking charge for 2 hours at 
£1.20, or reducing it to £1 in our town centre car parks (Great 
Torrington/Holsworthy/Bideford) to encourage people to park for longer and spend 
more time in our town centres 
 

(b)   Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Bright  

 I propose that we do not change the parking charges in Bideford, Great Torrington 
and Holsworthy car parks as proposed in the recent Community and Resources 
committee, and that we continue to use the parking charges for those towns which 
were in place previous to that decision.  
 
Coming out of covid we should be supporting our town centres, instead of giving 
residents a reason to drive to the larger chain stores who supply free parking. 
 

13.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move: 
 
“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972” 
 

14.   PART II - (CLOSED SESSION)  -  There are no Part II items  

 Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed. 
 

 Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services 
 

 



 

Agenda Item  

REPORT OF Finance Manager and Section 151 Officer  

To: Full Council 

Subject: Budget 2021/22, Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26  

Date: 22nd February 2021 Reference:  

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:  For Members to consider the recommendation for the proposed 
increase to the Council Tax, consider and recommend the Budget 2021/22 to Full Council, 
including additions to the approved capital program. 
 
The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) indicates the possible extent of the budget and 
funding shortfall that the Council will face in the future. It is an aid in identifying the extent of 
service changes that the Council will need to make to achieve a balanced budget in each financial 
year up to 2025/26  
 

 
1. Introduction 
 

1.1. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) provides an annual update of the Council‟s 
financial situation for the current and forthcoming five years.  It illustrates through the 
application of forecasts and assumptions where and how spending pressures could 
materialise; how different funding sources may change and the savings plans required to 
manage any identified revenue budget gap.  

 
1.2. The MTFS provides the basis for the members to consider the 2021/22 budget and also 

whether an increase in Council Tax should be recommended to Full Council for 2021/22. 
 

1.3. Whilst considering the 2021/22 Budget and the MTFS it is prudent to review and assess the 
levels and types of financial reserves the Council holds.  This review is conducted in light of 
the levels of risk the Council faces and the potential financial impact if a major risk comes to 
fruition. 
 

1.4. The Council’s capital investment plans and funding are discussed later in this report. 
 

2. Impact of Covid-19 
 

2.1 Local Authorities across the country have been significantly impacted by the Covid-19 
pandemic. Central Government restrictions on businesses and its citizens have increased 
the workload of all Councils, with local authorities having to administer the payment of: 

 Business Support Grants 

 Self-Isolation payments 

 Hardship grants 
 

The finances of all local authorities have been hit by a downturn in their income from fees 
and charges and increased costs associated with the pandemic. Central Government in 
recognition of the impact Covid-19 has had on Council‟s Finances, has provided various 
tranches of grant support pertaining to the additional expenditure incurred by Councils.  In 
addition Central Government has introduced a scheme to compensate Councils up to 75% 
of their lost income from Fees and Charges, provided the Fees and Charges have not been 
lost as a result of the waiving charges to assist business or individuals 
 
For the financial year 2020/21 despite the challenges faced by the pandemic Torridge is 
anticipated to have surplus on its revenue account.  At the time of this report this is 
anticipated to be circa £642k which will be set aside to fund the gap on its capital 
programme.   

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 6



 

2.2 The financial impact of Covid-19 will be felt beyond the current financial year and this 
subject is discussed later in the report.  In the Local Government settlement published on 
the 17th December 2020, Central Government outlined further Covid-19 measures in 
support of local government, namely: 

 

 Tranche 5 of Covid-19 support grant funding  £1.5bn – (£404k Torridge) 

 Extension of the lost Fees and Charges compensation scheme to cover April – 
June 2021 

 Local Council Tax Support Grant - £670m nationally (£72k Torridge) 
 

However the financial consequences arising from Covid-19 will potentially be felt for several 
years to come, and at the time of writing this report the Council is unclear as to the exact 
financial consequences. 
 

 Reduced income from short term treasury deposits arising from Bank of England 
base rate cuts 

 Increased costs of providing leisure services 

 Increased claims for local council tax support arising from recession 

 Increased empty business rate reliefs  

 Uncertainty regarding Fees and Charges income 
 

3. Recap – Sources of Funding for Torridge Council 
 

3.1. Whilst 2020/21 has been a unique year as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact 
will certainly be felt throughout 2021/22, it is important to note that the fundamentals of 
Torridge‟s income remain the same.  
 
Detailed in the chart below, are the budgeted sources of funding for Torridge Council in 
2020/21. (** Actual Central Government funding has been significantly higher in 2020/21 
because of the pandemic). 

 

 
 
The monetary values of the sources of funding above are: 
 
Fees and Charges  £6.1m 
Council Tax   £4.1m 
Business Rates  £3.9m 
Central Government Grant £1.5m 
Gross Income   £15.6m   **** 
 
*** excludes Housing benefit subsidy circa £12m where the Council acts as an agent for the 
Department of Work and Pensions. 

Page 5



 

 
3.2. Torridge Council along with other District Councils are increasingly reliant upon  monies it 

generates from fees and charges, council tax and business rates, the movement away from 
Central Government grant funding is illustrated below. 

 

 
 

 
4. Delayed reform of Local Government Financing 

 
4.1 Significant changes to local government financing were due to be implemented effective from 

the financial year 2021-22.  However as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic these plans have 
been put on hold.  The timetable for reform of local government financing is not known at this 
juncture. The delayed changes are summarised below: 
 

 Comprehensive Spending Review – This will determine the total value of Central 
Government spending and the share allocated to the local authority sector. 

 Fair Funding Review – This will determine the share of the local authority „pot‟ 
assigned to individual local authorities such as Torridge District Council 

 Business Rates Retention – The current system of business rate retention will 
change, currently Torridge retains 40% of the business rates collected within its area. 

 Business Rates Revaluation – Periodically the Valuation Office undertakes a review 
of Business Rates. The aim of the exercise is not to raise more revenue from Business 
rates (at a national level it is cost neutral) but to the reflect changes in market rents 
between different categories of properties. 

 Replacement of New Homes Bonus – Since 2011/12 local authorities have been 
rewarded for increases in the number of properties liable for Council Tax and 
reductions in long term empty properties.  Central Government has signalled that the 
current system of New Homes Bonus Funding will be replaced.  

 
 

  

Page 6



 

 
5. 2020-21 Provisional Local Government Financial Settlement 

 
5.1 The provisional settlement was published on the 17th December 2020; the key points to 

note are: 
 

 Core Spending Power 
o Central Government have indicated that the Core Spending power for Councils in 

2021-22 will be 4.5% higher compared with 2020-21. However for Torridge District 
Council with the reduction in New Homes Bonus funding there has been no 
increase to its core spending power. It should be noted that 86% of the increase 
in Core Spending power relates solely to allowable increases in Council Tax not 
extra money from Central Government.  
 
Core spending power consists of 

 Revenue Support Grant 
 Retained Business Rates and Section 31 grants (compensation for 

increases to Business Rates reliefs etc) 
 New Homes Bonus Income 
 Lower Services Grant 
 Rural Services Delivery Grant 
 Additional Social Care Grants (not applicable to Torridge) 
 Income from Council tax - assuming that the tax base grows and that 

councils increase council tax up to their Referendum Limit. 
 

 Council Tax Referendum Limits 
o The Council Tax referendum limits for Shire Districts such as Torridge will be a £5 

increase for a Band D equivalent property or 2% which ever is the greater. A £5 
increase to a Band D property within Torridge equates to 2.96%. 
 

o Upper tier authorities such as Devon County Council and Devon & Somerset Fire 
Authority can increase their Council Tax by 2%. The County Council can also raise 
their Council Tax by a further 3% by way of an Adult Social Care Precept 

 
o Police and Crime Commissioners Council Tax Referendum limit is £15 per Band 

D equivalent, for Devon & Cornwall Police Commissioner this equates to 6.8%. 
 

o There are no referendum limits for Town and Parish Councils 
 

 Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) 
o In recognition that Councils in sparsely populated areas incur additional costs, such 

as refuse collection, Central Government provides a Rural Services Delivery Grant 
to rural authorities such as Torridge.   
 

o The RSDG for 2021/22 has been confirmed nationally at £85m an increase of £4m.  
For Torridge this means its RSDG for 2021/22 will be £497,300  an increase from 
£473,799 in 2020/21. 
 

 Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
o Central Government has provided an inflationary uplift of 0.55% to Torridge 

Council‟s Revenue Support Grant, the funding for 2021-22 being £132k. 
  

 New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
o Nationally New Homes Bonus (NHB) funding has reduced from £907m in 2020/21 

to £622k, as legacy payments from prior years have ceased.  For Torridge this has 
seen a dramatic reduction in its NHB funding reducing to £381k in 2021/22 
compared with £924k in 2020/21; a reduction of £543k.  

Page 7



 

o The Council has traditionally earmarked 50% of NHB funding to its capital program; 
the reduction in NHB funding is one of the significant contributory factors to the 
deficit on the capital program discussed later in the report. 
 

 Social Care Grant Funding 
o Central Government has confirmed there will be a new Social Care Grant of £1.7bn 

for adult and children services; an increase of £300m from 2020/21. As a Shire 
District Torridge Council does not have responsibility for adult social care. 
 

 Lower Tier Services Grant 
o Central Government has announced a new un-ringfenced grant funding for 2021/22 

of £111m, Torridge‟s allocation is £295k, it is not known at this juncture if this is 
recurrent grant funding; or simply an allocation to mitigate the loss of NHB funding 
whilst a replacement scheme for NHB is worked up 
 

 Better Care Funding (BCF) 
o The 2020-21 Better Care Fund remains unchanged at £2.077 billion Torridge‟s BCF 

in 2020/21 is not finalised but will be in the region of circa £1m. Specific allocations 
are normally received after the start of the financial year. These monies are ring 
fenced for Disabled Facility Grants 
 

 Homelessness funding 
o The government announced an increase to Torridge‟s homelessness grant funding 

of £43k, bringing the total grant funding received up to £246k  
 

 Local Tax Income Guarantee (Business Rates and Council Tax) 
o In recognition that the local tax revenue of local authorities have been hit by the 

Covid-19 pandemic, Government has announced that Councils will be compensated 
up to 75% of their loss tax income.   
 
£268k is projected to be received in respect of lost business rate income (however 
this grant funding will not be physically paid until Jan 2022, but will be accrued 
against the 2020/21 financial year). 
 

 Covid-19 funding  
o The Government has announced Covid-19 funding reflecting the expected impact 

into the financial year 2021/22 of £1.55bn, of which Torridge Council‟s share is 
£404k. 

o Nationally Government has allocated £670m in Local Council Tax support Grant 
funding, the allocation of funding to local authorities being based upon increases in 
their Local Council Tax support claims. Torridge has seen very modest rises up to 
this point in its number of claims for local council support throughout the pandemic 
and consequently its funding is only £72k. However it is unclear as to whether 
claims will increase as the pandemic continues. 

o The compensation scheme for lost fees and charges has been extended to June 
2021. 

 
6. Council Tax 
 
6.1 Central Government assessment of Core Spending Power ( the resources available to local 

authorities) is built on the expectation that Council Tax will increase year on year in line with 
the approved referendum limits; currently 2% or £5 per Band D Equivalent, whichever is the 
greater. 

 
6.2 In 2020-21 the average Band D equivalent Council Tax within Torridge is £1,984.24 of 

which the amount levied by Torridge Council was £168.66, with an estimated collectable 
tax base of 24,333 Band D Equivalent properties.  This equates to a Council Tax income for 
Torridge of £4.1m for the financial year 2020/21. 

 

Page 8



 

6.3 On the 14th December 2020 Full Council approved the tax base for 2021-22 at 24,035. 
 
6.4 Whilst by statue councils are obliged to report their tax base in Band D equivalents and 

increases to Council Tax are referenced to the Band D equivalent, however the majority of 
properties within Torridge fall within Bands A-C.  The table below shows the number of 
properties liable for Council Tax by band, the Torridge element of the Council Tax levied 
and how much a £5 increase on a Band D Equivalent would be by Band for 2021-22.  

 

            
 

As the table above shows 68% of properties within Torridge fall within Bands A – C and so 
would pay less than the £5 equivalent referendum limit. 
 
The Council Tax levied by Torridge is only one component of the Council Tax bill levied on 
its residents.  Over recent years the proportion of Council Tax levied by Torridge Council 
has been in decline. This is due to a combination of factors such as Devon County Council 
being able to raise a social care precept, above inflation rate increases for Devon and 
Cornwall Police Commissioner. and the absence of referendum limits for Town and Parish 
Councils. 
 
The table below shows the percentage of the council tax retained by Torridge Council.  The 
2021/22 figure assumes increases by preceptors to their maximum (and Parish and Town 
Council precept increase of 2%). 

 

                  
  
 
6.5 It is vitally important to consider the longer term impact of council tax increases as once a 

charge has been included in the tax base it has a much longer financial benefit than simply 

Council 

Tax Band

Number of 

Properties

2020-21 

Torridge 

Charge

Annual 

Impact of 

£5 

increase

Weekly 

increase 

in 

Pence
A 8,194             112.44 £3.33 6.41

B 7,231             131.18 £3.89 7.48

C 6,995             149.92 £4.44 8.55

D 5,744             168.66 £5.00 9.62

E 3,320             206.14 £6.11 11.75

F 1,114             243.62 £7.22 13.89

G 371                 281.1 £8.33 16.03

H 29                   337.32 £10.00 19.23

32,998           

Page 9



 

the year it was increased.  Once a decision has been made to not increase Council Tax, it 
is not possible to make up the “shortfall” in the subsequent financial years. Referendum 
limits do not accommodate previous years below referendum level increases.   

 
6.6 Members in previous financial years made the decision to freeze Council Tax, in some 

years the Council was partly compensated by non recurrent council tax freeze grant 
funding from Central Government.  The graph below shows the impact of freezing the 
Council Tax in prior years has had upon the income the Council can currently collect from 
Council Tax. 

 

            
 
 Cumulatively the Council has forgone circa £3m from not increasing its council tax in line 

with referendum limits.  On an annual basis the Council‟s council tax income would be circa 
£440k more if council tax had risen by the referendum limits since 2010/11. 

 
7. Business Rates Retention  
 
7.1 Under the Business Rate Retention Scheme (BRRS) introduced in 2013/14 Torridge 

Council retains 40% of the business rates collected within the Torridge area. Prior to 
2013/14 local authorities such as Torridge collected business rates on an agency basis on 
behalf of Central Government, with Central Government bearing any losses arising from 
non-collection and business rate appeals. 

 
7.2 Whilst Torridge Council benefits from any growth in business rates income within its area, it 

also shares the risk of lost income arising from non-collection and business rate appeals. 
Since its inception the scheme has become increasingly complex with Central Government 
introducing new reliefs, most notably pertaining to small businesses.  Local authorities such 
as Torridge are compensated for the loss of business rate income resulting from increased 
reliefs by Section 31 Grants. 

 
7.3 As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic the amount of Business Rates Torridge collected in 

2020/21 was significantly reduced as a result of Central Government‟s decision to award 
relief from business rates to a wide range of businesses such as the retail sector. 
Consequently the amount of business rates collectable within Torridge in 2020/21 fell from 
circa £11.4m to £4.5m.  There have been no announcements regarding any extension of 
these Covid-19 reliefs into 2021/22. 

  

Page 10



 

8. New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
 

8.1 New Homes Bonus was introduced in 2011/12; it rewarded Councils for increases in the 
number of properties liable for Council Tax within their areas. Local Authorities were also 
rewarded for decreases in the number of long term empty properties (over 6 months).  Initially 
the rewards earned by Councils were retained for 6 years; however this reduced to 4 years in 
2018/19.   

 
  Also in 2017/18 the Central Government introduced a deadweight adjustment of 0.4%; 

essentially Councils only received NHB funding for housing growth above 0.4%. For Torridge 
this equated to circa 100 Band D equivalent properties. 
 
The Government has signalled the end of the current NHB scheme but has not yet provided 
any detail as to how any replacement scheme would operate. With the projected demise of the 
NHB scheme any grant funding arising from increased properties number in 2019/20 and 
2020/21 were only payable for one year (2020/21 & 2021/22 respectively).  The tables below 
illustrate the impact for Torridge of declines in  NHB funding. 
 
  

 

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

Year 1 
         
260,467              

Year 2 
         
406,950              

Year 3 
         
380,737  

       
380,737            

Year 4 
         
213,264  

       
213,264            

Year 5 
         
326,392  

       
326,392  

        
326,392          

Year 6 
         
440,255  

       
440,255  

        
440,255  

       
440,255        

Year 7   
       
388,873  

        
388,873  

       
388,873  

   
388,873      

Year 8     
        
216,647  

       
216,647  

   
216,647  

   
216,647    

Year 9       
       
143,526  

   
143,526  

   
143,526  

   
143,526  

Year 10         
   
174,530      

Year 11           
     
21,280    

 

     
2,028,065  

    
1,749,521  

    
1,372,167  

    
1,189,301  

   
923,576  

   
381,453  

   
143,526  

 

Page 11



 

 
 
50% of New Homes Bonus funding has been previously earmarked to support the Council‟s 
capital program. The reductions in NHB funding, will clearly have a dramatic impact on the 
funding of the Council‟s capital program. 

  
  

9. Budget 2021-22 
 

9.1 Full Council on the 24th February 2020 agreed a net revenue budget of £9.737m for 2020/21; 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) highlighted to members a deficit for 2021/22 of 
£259k increasing to £293k by 2024-25.  

 
The budget setting process for 2021/22 has identified various pressures and savings, and 
incorporates various assumptions; which are detailed below: 

 
9.1.1   Assumptions 

 

 Council Tax Income 
Council Tax collection rates for 2020-21 are projected to be 96.5% against a target 
collection rate of 99%.  At the start of the Covid-19 pandemic in line with central 
government guidance the Council did not actively pursue outstanding council tax debt, 
court dates were also unavailable between April and June 2020.  A more normal 
collection regime is now in place, and Government has indicated it expects Councils to 
recover the vast majority of outstanding council tax debt.   

 
It is assumed that the Council Tax collection rate will be 97.45% in 2021/22, and will 
rise by 0.5% a year until 2024/25, when it will return to 98.95%.  
 
The MTFS projections detailed later assume Council Tax will rise up to the referendum 
levels for each financial year (e.g. £5 per band D equivalent).  

 

 Business Rates 
Government had previously signalled a business rate revaluation would be undertaken 
for 2021/22, with the pandemic this has been delayed.  
 
It also signalled that there would be changes to the business rate retention system with 
the local share of business rates being retained rising to 75%. Currently the local share 
of business rates is 50% with lower tier authorities such as Torridge retaining 40%, 
upper tier authorities like Devon County retaining 9% and Fire Authorities 1%.  This 
change to the system of local business rate retention has been delayed. 
 

Page 12



 

With the onset of the pandemic and the various lockdowns, Central Government 
provided substantial relief from business rates; as a consequence the amount of 
business rates to be collected from Businesses within Torridge fall from £12m to circa 
£4.5m in 2020/21; with the Council being compensated for the income not being 
collected by Section 31 grant monies. 
 
As at the time of this report Government has made no indication as to whether the 
Covid-19 reliefs will continue into 2021/22.  Minimal growth is projected on the Council‟s 
Business Rate base over the life of the MTFS. 

 

 Income from Short Term Treasury Deposits 
 

At the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic the Bank of England cut interest rates to 0.1%, 
this has resulted in a very substantial decline in interest income the Council can earn 
on its short term treasury management deposits.  The shortfall in 2021/22 compared to 
the 2020/21 budgeted income figure is projected to be £125,000; interest rates (and 
therefore interest income) are not expected to recover to pre Covid-19 levels until 
2025-26. 
 

 Income from Fees and charges 
 

In 2020/21 the Covid-19 pandemic severely hit local authorities‟ income from fees and 
charges; within Torridge the biggest area of income decline was Car Parking in 
particular the months of April – June 2020 when the country went into a national 
lockdown. There was minimal loss of income from the Council‟s other fees and charges.  
 
Government introduced a scheme whereby Councils were compensated for up 75% for  
their lost fees and charges income arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.  Government 
has announced that this scheme will continue for the first quarter of the financial year 
2021/22. 
 
It is assumed that there will be no loss of income in 2021/22 arising from the Covid-19 
pandemic; this will of course be dependent upon the course the pandemic takes and 
how quickly and successful the roll out of the Covid-19 vaccine is. 

 
       

 Pay awards 
 

The 2020 spending review stated, “In order to protect jobs and ensure fairness, pay 
rises in the public sector will be restrained and targeted in 2021/22”. Consequently the 
public sector pay will be frozen in 2021/22 with the exception of those earning under 
£24,000 who will receive an additional £250.   
 
Whilst Local Government is not technically part of the public sector for pay awards it 
should be noted that the local government settlement does not include any additional 
funding for pay awards. Consequently the Local Government Association is likely the 
follow Central Government‟s lead on pay awards. 
 
The following is assumed for pay awards within the MTFS 
 

o 0% for 2021/22 (£250 for those earning under £24,000) 
o 1% for 2022/23 
o 1.5% for 2023/24 
o 2% thereafter  

  

Page 13



 

 Leisure 
 
As members are aware the Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact upon the 
delivery of leisure services. The Council has had on-going discussions with its leisure 
provider 1610 regarding additional costs of operating leisure facilities in a Covid-19 secure 
manner. 
 
The current contract with 1610 expires in March 2022, and the Council is currently 
exploring its options as to how it can deliver a leisure service going forward. The longer 
term impact of Covid-19 on leisure services is unknown but it would be reasonable to 
assume that any future leisure provision will incur significantly increased costs. 
 
The 2020/21 budgeted management fee paid to 1610 for operating its leisure facilities is 
£128k, the MTFS assumes these costs will rise by £150k per annum. 

  

Page 14



 

 
9.2 Pressures and Potential Savings 
The tables below summarises the major movements on funding and expenditure identified since 
the Council‟s MTFS was last reported to members in February 2020. 
 

 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

adverse / 

(favourable)

adverse / 

(favourable)

adverse / 

(favourable)

adverse / 

(favourable)

Funding Gap as per 2021/22 MTFS 335                      704                    767                       581                   

Funding Gap as per 2020/21 MTFS 259 299 331 293

Adverse Movement 76                        405                    436                       288                   

Funding

RSG & RSDG (14) (14) (14) (15)

New Homes Bonus 309 546 690 690

Lower Tier Services Grant (297) (297) (297) (297)

Covid-19 2021/22 grants (405) 0 0 0

Council Tax 37 85 65 20

***** Business Rates 3,174 136 66 (158)

Subtotal 2,804 456 510 240

Expenditure

Salary - assumed pay awards (21) (57) (55) (1)

Vacancy Factor (150) (150) (150) (150)

Interest Receivable (Temp Deposits) 125                      110                    85                         50                     

Funding of Environmental Centre -                      170                    170                       170                   

Homelessness Grant Funding (43) (43) (43) (43)

Minimum Revenue provision (28) (28) (28) (28)

Burton Arts Gallery - Mgmt fee (30) (30) (30) (30)

Inflation 17 17 17 17

Refuse related savings (170) (170) (170) (170)

Increased costs of leisure 150 150 150 150

Other expenditure savings & 

Pressures (13) (38) (38) (38)

Housing Benefit Subsidy shortfall 50 50 50 50

Subtotal (112) (19) (42) (23)

Transfer to / (from) Reserve

Capital Contribution - Leisure, Car 

Parks & General Maintenance 180 180 180 180

2021/22 contribution to Capital 280 0 0 0

2021/22 contribution  to support 

appprentices 125 0 0 0

**** Transfers pertaining to Business 

Rates (3,072) (84) (84) (0)

Transfers pertaining to Council Tax (17) (17) (17) 0

Transfer to Capital Funding Reserve 

(NHB) (23) (22) (21) (21)

Transfer to Economic Development 

reserve (42) (42) (42) (42)

Transfer to Property Maintenance 

backlog reserve (80) (80) (80) (80)

Posts funded from reserve 31 31 31 31

Subtotal (2,617) (34) (33) 69

Page 15



 

 
 
**** In 2020/21 the Business Rate Collection Fund is projected to have a deficit of circa £3m, this is 
because of the increased business rate relief awarded arising from the Covid19 pandemic. 
Collection fund accounting rules mean this loss can only be realised in the next financial year 
(2021/22).  
 
Councils such as Torridge were compensated for their lost business rate income by increased 
Section 31 grants, this additional grant income has been sent aside into reserve in 2020/21 to 
cover the 2020/21 collection fund losses (realisable in 2021/22). 
 

The projected funding shortfalls for the life of the MTFS are shown below compared with the 
reported deficits as at February 2020. 
 

 
 
The key financial pressures highlighted in the previous table are: 
 
 Capital Related.  

 Reduction in New Homes Bonus funding – circa £700k 

 Funding for the Environmental Centre  - £170k 

 Capital contribution to Car Parks and General Maintenance - £180k 
Revenue  

 Loss of income from short term treasury deposits  - £125k in 2021/22 

 Anticipated increased costs of Leisure - £150k 
  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

MTFS Deficits 

Current MTFS Previous MTFS

£'000 

Page 16



 

 
The Council holds a Transition in Government Funding reserve to be used to balance the revenue 
budgets until such time as savings or additional revenue streams are identified. The current 
balance on the Transition in Government funding reserve is £1.2m. 
 
As the chart below demonstrates the projected revenue deficits over the life of the MTFS show the 
Transition in Government Funding reserve being exhausted early in 2023-24 unless remedial 
action is taken. 
 

 
 
10 Funding 2022/23 onwards 
 
10.1 The recent local authority settlement announced by Central Government only covered the 

financial year 2021/22. As alluded to in 4.1 above, major changes to the regime for local 
authority financing have been  anticipated, however the Covid19 pandemic have put these 
plans on hold.   

 
The MTFS report to members in February 2020 outlined these potential changes to local 
authority funding in detail.  No further detail is available at the time of this report and 
consequently no update can be provided. However some key observations should be 
considered: 
 

 Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) 
 
In light of the increase in the national debt arising from the response to the Covid-19 it 
would be reasonable to assume that any future CSR will seek to moderate central 
government expenditure.  It is likely that NHS spending will be protected and other 
areas of central government expenditure such as local government will bear a 
significant burden of any reduced governmental funding. 
 

 Fair Funding Review 
 
The fair funding review determines the share of the local authority pot that is assigned 
to individual local authorities such as Torridge.  Essentially it assigns funding based on 
the relative need of local authorities.  
 
With the increased expenditure burdens of adult and children‟s social care for upper tier 
authorities, it is unlikely that Shire Districts such as Torridge will benefit from the fair 
funding review.  
 
 

(2,000)

(1,500)

(1,000)

(500)

0

500

1,000

1,500

bfwd 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

Utilisation of Transition in Government Funding 
Reserve 

 

Deficit Trans in Gov Funding reserve

£'000 

Page 17



 

 Business Rate Retention 
 

With the introduction of local Business Rate Retention in April 2013, 50% of business 
rates were retained locally, 40% being retained by billing authorities such as Torridge, 
9% to upper tier authorities such as Devon County Council and 1% to Fire Authorities; 
the balance (50%) being retained by Central Government. 

 
Central Government also proposed that 75% of business rates would be retained 
locally, with the balance of 25% being retained by Central Government.  The splits 
between the various local authority sectors have yet to be determined.  
 
Since the introduction of business rate retention in 2013 shire districts such as Torridge 
have benefited significantly, whilst shire counties have only seen modest benefits from 
the introduction of business rate retention. This is due to the relatively high percentage 
of business rates retained by Shire Districts (40%) and their relatively low need (i.e. 
they don‟t have responsibility for adult social care, education, highways etc.). 
Conversely shire counties like Devon County Council retain a relatively low percentage 
of business rates (9%) whilst having high need (adult social care, education, highways 
etc.). 
 
The table below shows the growth in funding from business rates by local authority 
sector, as is clear shire districts have been by far the main beneficiaries of the current 
system 
 

 
 

Any new business retention scheme introduced will involve some form of funding reset.  It 
is not known at this juncture how much of the business rate growth Shire Districts like 
Torridge have enjoyed since 2013 they will be able to retain.  It would be prudent to 
conclude the new system of business rate retention will involve some transfer of 
resources from Shire Districts to Shire Counties.  

  

Page 18



 

 
11 Capital 
 

Appendix 1 details the funding shortfall on the Council‟s capital program of £5.7m, and 
outlines how this may be bridged. 
 
Previously the Council set aside 50% of its New Homes Bonus (NHB) funding into its 
capital program, however as illustrated previously the level of NHB funding has been in 
sharp decline and will cease after 2022/23. The loss of NHB funding has been a significant  
contributory factor to the increased capital funding gap 
 
Members should note that the current approved capital program of the Council is £23m, 
after incorporating the suggested new PiDs (Project Initiation Documents) the value of the 
capital program rises to £26.9m 
 
It should also be borne in mind that only £7.7m of the capital funding required is actually 
held in the councils‟ reserves or grants monies already received, with the remainder of the 
funding coming from: 
 

o Future revenue contributions to Capital (primarily contributions towards the 
replacement of refuse and street cleansing vehicles) 

o Future Capital receipts 
o Grant funding 
o Approved borrowing 

 
It is important to understand that the Councils‟ capital and revenue budgets are 
interconnected, whilst the funding gap on the capital program could be funded by borrowing 
the servicing of the borrowing costs is borne by the Council‟s revenue budgets, which are 
already projecting deficits over the life of the MTFS. 
 

 The funding gap of £5.7m can be broken down into three distinct areas: 
 

 Approved Capital items and specific PiDs    - £3.3m 

 Environmental Centre increased costs    -  £1.5m 

 Rolling Program of capital works    -  £0.9m    
 

Approved Capital items and specific PiDs 
 

There is potential to close this funding gap by a combination of: 

 Realising savings on existing capital projects most notably on the Burrows Centre 

 Utilisation of various capital receipts (it should be borne in mind these receipts are 
far from guaranteed), consequently it is  prudent to set aside a contingency for non-
receipt of capital disposals and to account for future PIDs 

 Setting aside the projected surplus on the 2020/21 revenue budget of £642k to 
capital. 

 Utilisation of £275k from the 2021/22 revenue budgets 
  

Page 19



 

 
Environmental Centre 

 
The Environmental Centre report previously presented to members detailed the  difficulties 
the Council faces operating out of its existing depots.  The current estimate for the delivery 
of an Environmental Centre located within Bideford is circa £7m an increase of £1.6m on 
the current capital budget (subject to procurement and tender process), of which borrowing 
would have to finance £5.6m.   
 
The annual cost of servicing borrowing of £5.6m are £392k, however the operational 
efficiency of operating out of an Environmental Centre (increased recycling income) are 
£222k giving an annual cost pressure of £170k.    
 
Community and Resources on the 25th of January 2021 resolved  to bridge this funding 
pressure by agreeing to raise the annual charge for the garden waste collection service to 
£50 from the current charge of £35.  
 
The increase charge being staggered over 3 years, £40 20201/22, £45 2022/23 and £50 
2034/24. This would generate additional income of £180k per annum by 2023/24.  It should 
be borne in mind that the decision for Torridge residents to subscribe to the Council‟s 
garden waste service is voluntary.  
 
 
Rolling Program of Capital works 
 
The Council has an extensive property portfolio to maintain and refurbish; with the demise 
of the NHB funding, there is a requirement for the Council to set aside monies from its 
annual revenue budgets to meet future capital commitments. An annual figure of £180k is 
felt to be a prudent amount to set aside on a recurrent annual basis. For information the 
Council‟s land and building property portfolio is valued at just under £30m.  
 
Community and Resources on the 25th of January 2021 resolved to meet this financial 
pressures by targeted increases to Car Parking charges. 
  
Alternatively the Council could seek to reduce its non-statutory expenditure, such as  
 

 Reduce leisure provision  

 Reduce member grants 

 Close Public Conveniences 

 Stop grants to voluntary sectors organisations. 
o CCAB 
o TTVS 

 
However the Council particularly in the current circumstances recognises the important role 
these services provide to our communities. 

 
12 Council Reserves 
 
12.1 In addition to the Transition in Government Funding reserve, the Council holds other 

reserves, the majority of which have been assigned for Capital purposes.  The make-up of 
the Council‟s reserves is as below: 

         £‟000 
Capital Reserves      5,900 
Transition in Government Funding Reserve    1,208 
Other Earmarked Reserves     2,343 
Total         9,441 

 
 

Page 20



 

12.2 In addition to the specific reserves held above, a sum of £1.084m is also set aside as the 
General Fund Balance, which is there to deal with unforeseen events that are not budgeted 
for due to their unpredictability e.g. loss of income due to recession and cannot be met from 
other available resources in year. The balance on the General Fund being 11.1% of the 
Council‟s Annual net budget. 
 

12.3 The current level of monies held is considered appropriate in light of the existing and 
increased levels of risks associated with Torridge‟s current operational activities and 
responsibilities and the sum held is periodically risk assessed taking account of any new 
and emerging risks. 

 
12.4 The Council utilises transfers to reserve to set aside funds for future commitments. The 

table below outlines the funds to be set aside over the MTFS, based upon the assumptions 
made regarding the Council‟s income post 2021/22. 

            

Planned Reserve transfers 
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2023/24 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Vehicle Replacement Reserve 554,324 554,324 554,324 554,324 554,324 

ICT replacement Reserve 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 

General Contribution to Capital  208,470 22,660 22,021 21,369 20,703 

General Contingency Reserve 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 

Property Backlog Reserve 155,000 155,000 155,000 155,000 155,000 

Other Reserves Transfers 3,708 3,708 3,708 3,708 3,708 

Total 1,071,501 885,691 885,052 884,400 883,734 
 
 
Other reserves transfers include contributions to fund posts, such as apprentices, fund district 
elections etc. 
      
  

Page 21



 

 
13 Bridging the Gap 
 
13.1 Members have considered a variety of options for bridging the gap. 

 Increased charges 

 Stopping discretionary services 

 Reducing levels of service for mandatory services 
 

It was felt that reductions to discretionary services would impact most on the vulnerable 
within our communities; whereas the burden of increased car parking and garden waste 
would fall upon those who benefit / want the service and tend to be borne by the more 
affluent; additionally  visitors to our tourist locations. 

  
 Whilst the member event recommended increases to car parking, they were mindful of 

continuing support to local businesses, consequently it was proposed to retain the 30p 
charge for the first 30 minutes and offer free parking on Saturdays in December in the lead 
up to Christmas. 

 
 Community and Resources Committee resolved of 25th January 2021 that the funding gap 

was best met by increases to its Garden Waste collection service and increases to its car 
parking charges. The table below shows the budgets being brough back into balance by 
2024/25 as a result.  

 

 

 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Area £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost of Service 9,003 8,875 9,062 9,393 9,694 

Reserve Movement (1,801) 712 642 673 603 

Other - Financing etc (245) 124 89 54 9 

Projected Revenue 
Budgets 6,956 9,710 9,792 10,120 10,306 

 
          

Government Grants (1,713) (1,082) (949) (960) (971) 

Council Tax  (4,238) (4,365) (4,562) (4,786) (4,956) 

Business Rates (900) (3,986) (4,138) (4,416) (4,470) 

Projected Funding (6,851) (9,433) (9,649) (10,162) (10,397) 

Contribution from /(to) 
Reserve to Balance 105 278 144 (42) (91) 

 
This assumes that Full Council will approve an increase to the Council Tax of £5 per Band D 
equivalent (2.96%) and that Council Tax will rise by the referendum limit in each year of the MTFS 
tax 
  

Page 22



 

The impact of these recommendations on the projected revenue deficit and utilisation of the 
Transition in Government Funding reserve are detailed in the tables below. The increased income 
from Car Parking and Garden Waste service brings the budgets back into balance by 2024/25 
whilst maintaining a balance on the Transition in Government Funding Reserve, which is needed to 
manage the unknown impact of changes to local government finances referenced in paragraph 4. 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
  

-100

-50

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

Revised MTFS  Deficits 

Current MTFS Previous MTFS

£'000 

(200)

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

bfwd 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

Utilisation of Transition in Government Funding 
Reserve 

Deficit Trans in Gov Funding reserve

£'000 

Page 23



 

14. ROBUSTNESS OF THE BUDGET  
 

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Financial Officer (s151  
Officer) of a billing or major precepting authority to report to Members on the following 
matters. 

 

 The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the budget calculations. 

 The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves contained within the budgets. 
 

Robustness of Estimates 
 

The estimates have been calculated based upon the information contained within the work 
and associated papers and guidance used to forecast the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2021/22 to 2025/26 within this report.   
 
The estimate of income from 2022/23 arising from the following changes (discussed above) 
represents the greatest uncertainty. 
 

 Comprehensive Spending Review 

 Fair Funding Review 

 75% Business Rate Retention 

 New Homes Bonus 

 Business Rate Revaluations 
 

As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic it is anticipated that increased Businesses rate 
appeals will be submitted as a result of a material change in circumstances, this are likely 
to focussed on office accommodation and retail.  The extent of the any reduction in 
Business Rate income for the Council is unknown as the extent of any potential central 
government support. 

 
The final consideration is that this Council has a robust performance management 
framework in place with regular reports being presented to the Senior Management Team, 
Overview & Scrutiny (Internal) and Community & Resources Committees. This framework 
provides additional reassurance that budgets are proactively monitored and controlled 
throughout the financial year. 

 
Taking all of the above into consideration, the budget which has been recommended for 
approval by Council is sufficiently robust for members to use it as a basis for approving the 
proposed Council Tax for 2021/22 and the use of financial reserves. 

 
15. Risk Assessment 
 

The major risks associated with the achievement of both the Budget 2020/21 and the MTFS 
is that the major assumptions and forecasts highlighted in section 9 are significantly 
different to that considered to be the position now.  They are forecasts so we do expect 
them to change in both positive and negative ways and the Finance Team regularly monitor 
and update our forecast position when new information comes to light.  
 
The long term impact of the Covid-19 pandemic cannot be foreseen with any degree of 
certainty. 

 
Implications 
 
Legal Implications 
The Council is required to set a balanced annual budget. 
 
Financial Implications 
These are contained in the report. 
 

Page 24



 

Human Resources Implications 
These will form part of the detailed budget consideration. 
 
Sustainability Implications 
These will form part of the detailed budget consideration. 
 
Equality/Diversity 
These will form part of the detailed budget consideration. 
 
Risk Management 
The Council will be required to reduce net expenditure over the medium term. The MTFS (section 
14) indicates the level of reduction required and reduces the risk of not achieving a balanced 
budget or identifying savings that are not achievable. 
 
Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
Forms part of the strategy process. 
 
Lead Member Views 
 
Councillor Hodson: 
Date of Consultation – 10th February 2021 
 

“Whilst it is always difficult to recommend and justify a decision to increase the Council Tax in any 

year, it is my opinion a necessity given the financial challenges faced by the Council. Council Tax 
is one of few areas that we have control over to manage our finances and we must plan not just for 
next year, but for the future and, therefore, I support the recommendations in the report. 
 
The funding of the Council extensive capital program has been a pressing concern. The sharp 
decline in New Homes Bonus funding which has traditionally contributed a significant proportion of 
the Council‟s capital funding needed to be addressed, and the recommendations approved by 
Community and Resources will put both the capital program and revenue budgets back into 
balance. 
 
Community and Resources are to commended for recognising that increases to Garden Waste 
charges and targeted increases to Car Parking charges, were by far the more palatable option than 
reductions in service provision”. 
 

    
Conclusion 
The report highlights the challenges faced by Torridge Council in an increasingly uncertain 
environment, in particular the pressing need to address the shortfall in funding for the Council‟s 
capital program.  Assuming the recommendations below are accepted the Council will be well 
placed to meet the financial challenges ahead. 
  

Page 25



 

 
17. Recommendations: 
 
That members consider the recommendations by Community and Resources to Full Council on the 
25th of January 2021 and Internal Overview and Scrutiny on the 9th February 2021. 
 
a) Torridge‟s Band D Council Tax for 2021/22 be increased by £5 (2.96%) from £168.66 to 

£173.66 per year. 
 

b) Torridge‟s Net Revenue Budget 2021/22 is £6.956m 
 

c) The contributions to the Council‟s reserves as outlined in paragraph 12.4 are approved. 
 

d) The new PiDs detailed in Appendix 1 – Capital Report are added to the Council‟s approved 
capital programme: namely: 

 

 Increased cost of Environmental Centre   £1.55m 

 Leisure Contingency     £0.35m 

 Town Hall Roof      £0.76m 

 Rolling program of Capital Improvements  £0.9m 

 Works funded from Planned Maintenance Reserve £0.205m 
 

**** Internal Overview and Scrutiny on the 9th February 2021 approved the PiDs detailed in 
Appendix 1 but recommended that the Notices of Motions detailed in the report, Pannier Market 
and pool cover for the paddling pool in Victoria Park, be properly reported considered and debated, 
following the proper procedures and not just through the informal workshop.. 
 
e) External Overview and Scrutiny on the 20th January 2021 recommended to Full Council that, 

when they consider the budget, they continue to fund Citizens Advice and TTVS. 
 

 
That members note: 
 
The Chief Finance Officer (s151 Officer) assurance of the robustness of the budget 2021/22 set 
out in section 14 of the report. 
 
Note the assumptions and forecast applied to develop the MTFS outlined in section 9 
 
Note the risks associated with the Budget 2021/22 and MTFS outlined in section 15 
 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Consultations: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date of Consultation – 10th February 2021 
 
Leader - Councillor Ken James 
Deputy Leader – Councillor Claire Hodson 
 
Officers Consulted –  
Steve Hearse    Chief Executive 
Sean Kearney   Head of Communities and Place 
Staci Dorey       Head of Legal & Governance  
 
 

 Contact Officer: David Heyes – Section 151 Officer 

 
Background Papers: 
  

Page 26



 

 
 

Page 27



Appendix 1 
 

  

  

  

Subject: Capital Programme  2021/22 – 2025/26  

Date: 22nd February 2021 Reference:  

 

For Members to update the Capital Programme, for new Project Iniation Documents (PIDs), 
inflationary pressures, and ensure there is sufficient funding for the Capital Programme to 
balance. 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1. The Capital Programme is an ongoing forecast of capital investment in Torridge and the 

resources that are available to fund these plans. 
 

1.2. This report sets out the challenges facing the council to ensure the capital programme is 
fully funded going forward. These are: 
 

 Inflation – Build cost / Tender Price inflation of existing capital projects. 

 New PID’s – To maintain & improve the councils existing infrastructure 

 Funding Shortfall – Due to Inflation and additional PIDs, but also arising from 
changes to capital funding such as the “New Homes Bonus”. 

 
2. Capital Programme Overview 
 
2.1. Torridge’s Capital Programme is an ongoing forecast of the resources the Council is 

planning to invest in its assets and future development opportunities and whilst projects 
are allocated to specific years, by nature, projects quite often span financial years and 
resources follow. 

 
2.2. The existing approved Capital Programme includes planned investment of £23.1m over 

the period 2020/21 to 2025/26 (6years).  
 

2.3. The Capital Programme is projected forward to 2025/26 to cover the funding of the next 
round of refuse vehicles. 
 

2.4. All capital projects proposed for inclusion in the Council’s Capital Programme must be 
supported by a Project Initiation Document (PiD).  The PiD will outline in sufficient detail 
what the project entails, the costs and benefits it is expected to achieve with particular 
reference to how it will contribute to Torridge’s Strategic Plan and the plans for 
implementation. 
 

2.5. Members have recommended: 
 

 New Capital PIDs for inclusion in the Capital Program. 
 
  

Page 28



3. Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2025/26 (6 Years) 
 
3.1. The table below details the approved capital programme for the period 2020/21 – 

2025/26, at £23.1m 
 

 

 
 
 

3.2.  The Funding of the capital programme is broken down as follows: 
 

 
 
As the table above shows, only £7.7m of the Council capital funding is actually held in reserve or 
in capital grants already received. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22

Capital Programme 20/21 to 25/26 To

2025/26

£'000s

Approved Programme 23,087

Funding (20,922)

Shortfall 2,165

2021/22

Total Capital Programme - APPROVED To

2025/26

£'000s

Current Approved Capital Projects 23,087

Current Capital Reserves & Grants Received (7,681)

Current Shortfall 15,406

Forecast (Rev Contribution, Cap Receipts, Cap Grants) (8,241)

Forecast Shortfall (before borrowing) 7,165

Approved borrowing (5,000)

Forecast Shortfall (After borrowing) 2,165

Page 29



 
Future High Street Fund 

 

            

  FHSF (Future High Street Fund)     £   

        £'000s   

            

            

  FHSF (Future High Street Fund) - Project Cost     9,687    

            

  Capital Receipts (Residential unit sales)     (2,960)   

  FHSF Grant     (4,287)   

  Borrowing (PWLB)     (2,440) * 

            

  Funding from TDC     -    

            

  *  Interest and repayments covered by income from rental units       

            

 
The Council was unsuccessful in its bid for Future High Street funding, consequently this 
project has been removed from the capital programme. 
 
However this does not affect the capital programme funding gap, as the project was 
designed to be self-financing 
 
The project still remains live and alternative sources of funding are still being sought, 
which if successful would bring the project back into the Capital Programme. 

  
3.3. Sources of Funding: 

 
The New Homes Bonus (NHB), has been declining over the last several years. 
 
The NHB contributed £1m of funding to the capital programme in 2016/17, 2022/23 will 
be the last year of this funding stream 
 

 

Page 30



 
Rolling Programmes 
Two PIDs have been created to represent continuing capital maintenance requirements 
of the Council’s assets. 
 
Annual Funding 
An alternative funding source needs to be found to replace the funding that the New 
Homes Bonus previously provided. Annual contributions from revenue would meet this 
requirement, however, the source of these contributions needs to be found (i.e. 
Additional Income vs Cost Savings) 
 

 
 

3.4.    Capital Programme – New PIDs (Project Initiation Document) 
 
The suggested new PIDs for members to approve are listed below. 

 

 
 
 

Rolling Programmes – Annual contributions from revenue to ensure the continuing 
capital maintenance requirements of the Council’s assets (funding will need to be 
identified for these) 
  
New PIDs (3-5) will to be funded from the Rolling Programmes – Specific projects that 
would come out of the rolling programmes (if approved) 
  
New PIDs to be funded from “Planned Maintenance” reserve – Capital maintenance 
works that are required, which can be funded from existing reserve. 

2021/22

New / Suggested PIDs To

2025/26

PIDs - Rolling Programmes Per Year £'000s

1 Car Parks 80 400

2 Capital Improvement Program - Property Assets 100 500

Note: Funded from Annual revenue contribution 180 900

New PIDs - To be funded from Capital Improvements Programme

3 Riverbank house Phase 2 (IT, Greenhouse) 200

4 Windmill Lane Refurb 60

5 Bridge Buildings (if not sold) 60

320

New PIDs - Funded from Planned maintenance Reserve

6 Muslim Burials 40

7 Skate Park Acoustics 60

8 Harbour (Shipping works) 70

9 Westward Ho WC Drains 35

205

Page 31



 

Works related to the Linear defences at Westward Ho! have not been included within the 

capital program. There is recognition that at some point in the future significant 

expenditure will have to be incurred, the initial estimate of these costs being in the region 

of £3m. It is anticipated that the Environment Agency would share the costs of any works 

with the Council on an equal share basis. 

Future Capital maintenance of our leisure centres has not been included, as this is 

dependant on how leisure services are provided once the current contract with 1610 has 

come to an end, and the nature of our future leisure provision. 

New PIDs (no Current Funding)  

These Projects are a significant risk to the Council if not undertaken, and there is no 

current funding identified. 

 Notice of Motion 

These are currently not formal PIDs, however there is a specific “Notice of Motion” 

relating to them. There is no funding available or identified relating to these, and inclusion 

of these would increase the shortfall of the capital programme further. 

 

 

 

 

2021/22

New / Suggested PIDs To

2025/26

New PIDs (no Current Funding) Year £'000s

10 Leisure Contingency 21/22 350

11 Depot - Increased Costs 1,550 *

12 Town Hall Roof - Increased Costs Over 2 - 3 yrs 760

2,660

Notice of Motion (No PID at this stage)

Notice of Motion - Pannier Mkt & Market House

Notice of Motion - Retractable Cover (Pool in Vic Park)

Total of Suggested new PIDs 3,765

* Includes £450k for new road (possibility of some grant funding)

* Includes Land for future development into comercial units

Future Projects to note:

Linear Defence - Increased Costs (Northam Burrows/W-Ho!) 3,000 ^

1610 / Leisure - Rolling Programme #

^ Match funding from the Environment Agency (£1,500K)

# To be considered when future leisure provision is reviewed

220

56

276

£'000s

Page 32



 

When the rolling program of capital works and new PiDs, Leisure Contingency, increased 

costs associated with the Environmental Centre and works on the Town Hall roof are 

added to the existing capital program; the funding gap rises to £5.7m. 

 

3.5 Closing the Gap: 
  
 The Gap of £5.7M can be split in to three distinct areas, and each of these looked at in 

turn: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22 Total

Total Capital Programme - with NEW PIDS To Funding Shortfall

2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Current Approved Capital Projects 23,087 (20,923) 2,165

New PIDs:

Rolling Programme (funded additional income or savings - to be identified) 900 900

New PIDS (Planned Maintenance Reserve funded) 205 (205) -

New PIDs (no Current Funding) 1,110 1,110

New Environment Centre (Increased Costs) 1,550 - 1,550

Capital Projects (After New PIDs) 26,852 (21,128) 5,725

Shortfall can be broken down in to three distinct areas:

£'000s

1 Approved Capital Programme & New Specific PIDs 3,275

2 New Environmental Centre 1,550

3 Rolling Programmes (Future Funding) 900

Total Shortfall 5,725

Page 33



 
Gap 1. 
 
This relates to the existing approved capital programme, and the additional new specific PIDs 
(excluding the environmental centre) 
 
 

 
 
As the table above shows a combination of  

 savings on the existing capital program  

 future capital receipts (after setting aside a contingency for receipts not materialising)  

 setting aside the projected surplus from the 2020/21 revenue budgets and 

 contribution from the 2021/22 revenue budgets 
 
can reduce the funding gap from £5.7M Gap down to £2.5M 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 Approved Capital Programme & New Specific PIDs

£'000s £'000s

Existing Capital Programme - Shortfall 2,165

PIDs - to maintain existing Buildings & Equipment 1,110

Existing Assets (Shortfall) 3,275

Current Programme Savings

Burrows Centre 541

Projects completed under budget 144

Capital Receipts

Cleave Wood Capital Receipts 1,280

Tadworthy 600

Bridge Buildings 335

Westward Ho! Park (Received Nov 2020) 100

Contingency for non receipt + Future PIDs (500)

Contribution from 20/21 642

Contribution from 21/22 275

3,417

Existing Assets (Surplus)/Shortfall (142)

Page 34



 
Gap 2. 
 
The gap relating to the new Environmental Centre can be bridged by borrowing from the PWLB. 
 
This additional borrowing would require annual capital and interest payments, which put pressure 
on the councils revenue budget. 
 
To fund these pressures additional savings or additional income are required. 
 
 

 
 
Green Waste Charges:   
Community and Resources of the 25th January 2021 resolved to increase the Councils Garden 
Waste Collection charge to £50 from the current £35 (with the increases being phased in over 3 
years); in order to meet the financial pressure arising from the ncreased Enivronmental centre 
costs  
 
The increase of £5 per year for the next three years, will generate additional income of around 
£180K per year by 2023/24. The charges for Devon authorities and Cornwall are shown for 
comparison. As can be seen Torridge is currently the cheapest provider of Garden Waste 
collection services. 
 

2 New Environmental Centre

£'000s

PID - To Build a new Environmental Centre 1,550

Represents the increased borrowing required.

There is a detailed review of the environmental centre scheduled later in the month

The Borrowing for the centre (in the approved project), is funded from increased income, and 

cost savings.

Therefore for the project to be approved in it's new state, this also should be the case.

Therefore overall borrowing will increase to 5,600

Annual Cost 392

Identified Savings and increased revenue (222)

Additional Savings to find (in order for the project to go ahead) 170

Page 35



 
 
If Green waste charges are increased, and further borrowing authorised for the new 
environmental centre, then this gap can also be closed, reducing the gap further to £0.9M 
 
Gap 3. 
 
To close the final gap £180K of increased income or cost savings needs to be found: 
 

 
 
Community and Resources resolved on the 25th January 2021 to approve increases to car 
parking charges to meet the financial pressures of setting aside monies into the rolling capital 
program. The table below shows how the revenue budgets are brought back into balance as a 
result of the decisions made by Community & Resources on the 25th January 2021. 
 

Green Waste Charges Per

Collection

Torridge £35.00 £1.40

Mid Devon £50.00 £2.00

East Devon £48.00 £1.92

Cornwall £43.00 £1.72

West Devon £40.00 £1.60

North Devon £36.00 £1.44

3 Rolling Programmes (Future Funding)

£'000s

Rolling Programmes (Future Funding) 900

Annual Revenue to generate or savings to find: 180

Income Generation: £'000s £'000s £'000s

Parking Charges:

Note: - Keep 30p for 30 mins to help local businesses

- look at free Saturday parking in December to help local buisnesses

Yr1 Yr2 Yr3

Tourist Locations (increase to comparable 63 122 178

sites in SW)

Towns (increase by 10p per hour - each yr) 96 162 238

Other Parking charges (increase by 11%/9%/5%) 11 22 27

170 306 443

Surplus for Revenue Budget: (10) 126 263

Page 36



 
 

 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Contact Officer: David Heyes  – Section 151 Officer 

 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 21-22 22-23 23-24 24-25 25-26

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Provisional Funding Gap 335 730 793 607 558

Cummulative 3,023

Transition in Government Funding 1,208

Cummulative Deficit 1,815

3,023

Green Waste Charges (60) (120) (180) (180) (180)

(720)

Parking Tourist Areas (W-Ho!, Appledore) (63) (122) (178) (178) (178)

Parking Towns (Bideford/Holsworthy/Torrington) (96) (162) (238) (238) (238)

Other Parking (11) (22) (27) (27) (27)

(1,805)

Adjusted Funding Gap 105 304 170 (16) (65)

Cummulative 498

Page 37



Recommendation from Internal Overview & Scrutiny 
 
Date of Meeting – 9 February 2021 
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 2024/25 
 
That the recommendations by Community and Resources to Full Council on the 25th 
January 2021 be approved, subject to an amendment to d): 
 

a) Torridge’s Band D Council Tax for 2021/22 be increased by £5 (2.96%) from 
£168.66 to £173.66 per year. 

 
b) Torridge’s Net Revenue Budget 2021/22 is £6.956m 
 

c) The contributions to the Council’s reserves as outlined in paragraph 12.4 are 
approved. 
 

d) The new PiDs detailed in Appendix 1 – Capital Report are added to the 
Council’s approved capital programme and the recommendations that the 
Notices of Motion, as detailed in the report, that is the Pannier Market, the 
Market and the pool cover, be properly reported, considered and debated, 
following the proper procedures and not just through the informal workshop.   

 
 
 

Page 38



 

Agenda Item  

REPORT OF Finance Manager & Section 151 Officer 

To: Full Council 

Subject: Council Tax Resolution 2021/22 

Date: 22 February 2021 Reference:  

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:  
The purpose of this report is to enable the Council to calculate and approve the Council Tax 
requirement for 2020/21. 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

Under legislation The Council, as Billing Authority, is required to set the Council Tax for the District 
area for the forthcoming financial year. 
 

2. REPORT 
  
 The Localism Act 2011 has made significant changes to the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 

and now requires the billing authority to calculate a Council Tax requirement for the year, not its 
budget requirement as previously. 

 
At the meeting of Community & Resources Committee on 25th January 2021 Members resolved to 
recommend to Full Council that: 
 

 The District Council revenue budget for 2021/22 be £6.956m – subject to the following 
 £5 increase to Band D Council Tax 

 

 There should be a £5 increase in the Band D Council Tax level of £173.66 charged by 
Torridge District Council, subject to full council consideration of the budget report 
 

The Budget 2021/22 report is on the agenda of this meeting. 
 

The precept demands from the other precepting bodies have been included within the Resolution 
attached in Appendix 1 and are detailed below: - 

 
Town and Parish Councils 
The Town and Parish Council precepts for 2021/22 total £1,631,129. The increase in the average 
Band D Council Tax for Town and Parish Councils is 2.5% and results in an average Band D 
Council Tax of £67.86 for 2021/22. 

 
Devon County Council 
Members of Devon County Council will meet on 18th February 2021 to agree a proposed Council 
Tax increase of 4.99%. This will result in a Band D Council Tax level of £1,511.28. 

  

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



 

 
Devon and Cornwall Police and Crime Commissioner 
The Commissioner has confirmed that a Band D Council Tax increase of £14.92 (equivalent to 
6.73%) is required for 2021/22. This results in a Band D Council Tax level of £236.56. 

 
Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority 
Members of Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority will meet on 19 February 2021 to 
agree a proposed Council Tax increase of 1.99%. This will result in a Band D Council Tax level of 
£90.00.   
 

3. RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
  

If the formal Council Tax Resolutions for 2021/22 set out in Appendix 1 are approved, the total 
average Band D Council Tax will be as follows: - 
 

  2020/21 2021/22 Increase 

  £ £ % 

Torridge District Council 
168.66 173.66 2.96% 

Devon County Council 
(Provisional) 1,439.46 1,511.28 4.99% 

Devon & Cornwall Police and 
Crime Commissioner 221.64 236.56 6.73% 

Devon & Somerset Fire Authority 
(Provisional) 88.24 90.00 1.99% 

Town & Parish Council (average) 
66.24 67.86 2.46% 

Total average Band D 
1,984.24 2,079.36 4.79% 

 
 
4. IMPLICATIONS 

 
Legal Implications 
The Council has a statutory obligation to set a balanced budget as well as the level of the Council 
Tax to be charged within the District. 
 
Financial Implications 
These are included in the report. 
 
Human Resources Implications 
There are no specific human resources implications 
 
Sustainability Implications 
There are no specific sustainability implications 
 
Equality/Diversity 
There are no specific equality/diversity implications 
 
Risk Management 
The Council is required to set the Council Tax each year in accordance with the legislation set out 
above in this report. If this is not done, there is a risk that the Council will be unable to bill in a 
timely manner with a consequential loss of revenue, and this may prevent the prudent 
management of the Council’s financial affairs. 

 
  

Page 40



 

Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
The Council must set Council Tax in accordance with statutory requirements. 
 
Ward Member and Lead Member Views 
Lead Member Councillor Hodson 12th February 2021 – “Please note that Torridge District Council 
receives only 8.4% of the total amount raised by Council Tax.  This is the last stage in the progress 
whereby Torridge Council in its statutory capacity as the Billing Authority formally sets the Council 
tax both for itself and on behalf of its preceptors. It should be noted that a £5 increase on a Band D 
property is equivalent to a 2.96% rise and this is lower than both Devon County Council and Devon 
& Cornwall Police which combined make up 84.1% of the total amount raised by Council Tax”. 
 
 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Council approve the formal Council Tax Resolution for 2021/22 set out in Appendix 1 to this 
report. 

   
 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Consultations: Date of Consultation – 12th February 2021 

Officers Consulted – 
Chief Executive 
Head of Legal and Governance (& Monitoring Officer) 
 

 Contact Officers: Peter Hudson – Senior Capital Accountant 

 Background Papers: Revenue budget working papers 

 
  

Page 41



 
 

APPPENDIX 1 -     TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

The Council is recommended to resolve that:

1. It be noted that on the 14th of December 2020 the Council calculated the Council Tax Base 2021/22

(a) for the whole Council area as 24,035.20 [Item T in the formula in Section 31B of the Local Government

Finance Act 1992, as amended (the "Act")] ; and

(b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept relates as in the attached Appendix A.

2. It calculates that the Council Tax requirement for the Council's own purposes for 2021/22 (excluding Parish precepts) is

4,173,952.83£ 

3. In accordance with Section 52ZB of the Act the Council determines that its relevant basic amount of Council Tax is

not excessive.

4. The following amounts be calculated for the year 2021/22 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act:

(a) 28,483,717.41 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2)

of the Act taking into account all precepts issued to it by Parish Councils.

(b) 22,678,636.00 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3)

of the Act.

(c) 5,805,081.41   being the amount by which the aggregate at 4(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 4(b) above, calculated

by the Council in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax requirement for the year.

(Item R in the formula in Section 31B of the Act).

(d) 241.52£          being the amount at 4(c) above (Item R), all divided by Item T (1(a) above), calculated by the Council in

accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including 

Parish precepts).

(e) £1,631,128.58 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act 

(f) 173.66£          being the amount a 4(d) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 4(e) above by Item T

(1(a) above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount 

of its Council for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no Parish precept relates.

(g) As shown in Appendix A (Valuation Band D column), being the amounts given by adding to the amounts at 4(f) above the

amounts of the Parish Precepts relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area mentioned above, divided in each 

case by the amount at 1(b) above, calculated by the Council in accodance with Section 34(3) of the Act as the basic 

amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which Parish Precepts relate.

(h) As shown in Appendix A (Valuation Bands A -H columns), being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 4(g) 

above by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a 

particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation 

band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account 

for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands.

5. It notes that the Devon County Council, Devon and Cornwall Police and Crime Commissioner, and the Devon and Somerset

Fire and Rescue Authority have issued precepts to the Council in accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government

Act 1992 for each category of dwellings in the Council's area as indicated in the table below. 

VALUATION BANDS

A B C D E F G H

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Devon County Council 1,007.52 1,175.44 1,343.36 1,511.28 1,847.12 2,182.96 2,518.80 3,022.56

Devon & Cornwall Police and Crime Commissioner 157.71 183.99 210.28 236.56 289.13 341.70 394.27 473.12

Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority 60.00 70.00 80.00 90.00 110.00 130.00 150.00 180.00

6. In accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 hereby sets the aggregate amounts 

shown in the tables as per attached Appendix B as the amounts of Council Tax for 2021/22 for each part of its area 

and for each of the categories of dwellings .
Page 42



  

APPENDIX A

Council Parish The Parishes of :-

Tax Base Precept A B C D E F G H

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

219.76 8,960.00 Abbotsham 142.95 166.78 190.60 214.43 262.08 309.73 357.38 428.86

14.52 0.00 Abbots Bickington 115.77 135.07 154.36 173.66 212.25 250.84 289.43 347.32

168.39 4,680.00 Alverdiscott & Huntshaw 134.30 156.68 179.07 201.45 246.22 290.98 335.75 402.90

150.51 5,080.00 Alwington 138.27 161.32 184.36 207.41 253.50 299.59 345.68 414.82

211.75 8,588.58 Ashreigney 142.81 166.62 190.42 214.22 261.82 309.43 357.03 428.44

291.58 8,000.00 Ashwater 134.07 156.41 178.76 201.10 245.79 290.48 335.17 402.20

196.47 6,500.00 Beaford 137.83 160.80 183.77 206.74 252.68 298.62 344.57 413.48

5367.96 518,223.00 Bideford 180.13 210.16 240.18 270.20 330.24 390.29 450.33 540.40

204.72 9,812.00 Black Torrington 147.73 172.35 196.97 221.59 270.83 320.07 369.32 443.18

219.59 5,225.00 Bradford/Cookbury 131.63 153.57 175.51 197.45 241.33 285.21 329.08 394.90

419.83 19,000.00 Bradworthy 145.95 170.27 194.60 218.92 267.57 316.22 364.87 437.84

271.90 9,350.00 Bridgerule 138.70 161.82 184.93 208.05 254.28 300.52 346.75 416.10

250.61 10,950.00 Broadwoodwidger 144.90 169.05 193.20 217.35 265.65 313.95 362.25 434.70

336.13 13,500.00 Buckland Brewer 142.55 166.30 190.06 213.82 261.34 308.85 356.37 427.64

61.29 3,065.00 Buckland Filleigh 149.11 173.97 198.82 223.67 273.37 323.08 372.78 447.34

29.58 0.00 Bulkworthy 115.77 135.07 154.36 173.66 212.25 250.84 289.43 347.32

125.03 5,615.00 Clawton 145.71 170.00 194.28 218.57 267.14 315.71 364.28 437.14

153.67 4,500.00 Clovelly 135.29 157.84 180.39 202.94 248.04 293.14 338.23 405.88

351.67 15,027.00 Dolton 144.26 168.30 192.35 216.39 264.48 312.56 360.65 432.78

42.55 0.00 Dowland 115.77 135.07 154.36 173.66 212.25 250.84 289.43 347.32

132.50 3,000.00 East/West Putford 130.87 152.68 174.49 196.30 239.92 283.54 327.17 392.60

148.48 6,755.00 Frithelstock 146.10 170.45 194.80 219.15 267.85 316.55 365.25 438.30

1677.16 212,410.00 Great Torrington 200.21 233.57 266.94 300.31 367.05 433.78 500.52 600.62

312.90 13,899.00 Halwill 145.39 169.62 193.85 218.08 266.54 315.00 363.47 436.16

734.48 26,750.00 Hartland 140.05 163.40 186.74 210.08 256.76 303.45 350.13 420.16

399.80 11,130.00 High Bickington 134.33 156.72 179.11 201.50 246.28 291.06 335.83 403.00

20.87 0.00 Hollacombe 115.77 135.07 154.36 173.66 212.25 250.84 289.43 347.32

1053.63 155,775.00 Holsworthy 214.34 250.06 285.79 321.51 392.96 464.40 535.85 643.02

370.39 11,484.00 Holsworthy Hamlets 136.45 159.19 181.93 204.67 250.15 295.63 341.12 409.34

15.12 0.00 Huish 115.77 135.07 154.36 173.66 212.25 250.84 289.43 347.32

224.51 4,500.00 Landcross/Littleham 129.13 150.66 172.18 193.70 236.74 279.79 322.83 387.40

308.76 8,750.00 Langtree 134.67 157.11 179.56 202.00 246.89 291.78 336.67 404.00

159.96 3,000.00 Little Torrington 128.27 149.65 171.03 192.41 235.17 277.93 320.68 384.82

68.01 2,730.00 Luffincott/Tetcott 142.53 166.29 190.04 213.80 261.31 308.82 356.33 427.60

125.24 8,350.00 Merton 160.22 186.92 213.63 240.33 293.74 347.14 400.55 480.66

177.04 4,250.00 Milton Damerel 131.78 153.74 175.71 197.67 241.60 285.52 329.45 395.34

128.54 3,750.00 Monkleigh 135.22 157.76 180.29 202.83 247.90 292.98 338.05 405.66

5,021.11 358,975.00 Northam 163.43 190.67 217.91 245.15 299.63 354.11 408.58 490.30

78.24 0.00 Newton St Petrock 115.77 135.07 154.36 173.66 212.25 250.84 289.43 347.32

92.94 1,800.00 Pancrasweek 128.69 150.13 171.58 193.03 235.93 278.82 321.72 386.06

332.16 13,500.00 Parkham 142.87 166.68 190.49 214.30 261.92 309.54 357.17 428.60

78.65 1,180.00 Peters Marland 125.77 146.74 167.70 188.66 230.58 272.51 314.43 377.32

167.44 4,300.00 Petrockstowe 132.89 155.04 177.19 199.34 243.64 287.94 332.23 398.68

298.44 5,500.00 Pyworthy 128.06 149.40 170.75 192.09 234.78 277.46 320.15 384.18

126.38 3,484.00 Roborough 134.15 156.51 178.87 201.23 245.95 290.67 335.38 402.46

359.85 14,035.00 Shebbear 141.77 165.40 189.03 212.66 259.92 307.18 354.43 425.32

113.87 6,856.00 Sheepwash 155.91 181.90 207.88 233.87 285.84 337.81 389.78 467.74

225.83 13,500.00 St Giles/Heath & Northcott 155.63 181.56 207.50 233.44 285.32 337.19 389.07 466.88

234.31 6,000.00 St Giles in Wood 132.85 154.99 177.13 199.27 243.55 287.83 332.12 398.54

126.78 6,000.00 Sutcombe 147.33 171.88 196.44 220.99 270.10 319.21 368.32 441.98

113.19 4,200.00 Thornbury 140.51 163.93 187.35 210.77 257.61 304.45 351.28 421.54

43.68 0.00 Virginstow 115.77 135.07 154.36 173.66 212.25 250.84 289.43 347.32

171.98 5,475.00 Weare Giffard 137.00 159.83 182.67 205.50 251.17 296.83 342.50 411.00

85.71 2,550.00 Welcombe 135.61 158.21 180.81 203.41 248.61 293.81 339.02 406.82

624.79 30,051.00 Winkleigh 147.84 172.48 197.12 221.76 271.04 320.32 369.60 443.52

453.31 14,566.00 Woolsery 137.19 160.06 182.92 205.79 251.52 297.25 342.98 411.58

132.19 6,548.00 Yarnscombe 148.79 173.59 198.39 223.19 272.79 322.39 371.98 446.38

9.45 0.00 Lundy 115.77 135.07 154.36 173.66 212.25 250.84 289.43 347.32

VALUATION BANDS

Page 43



  

APPENDIX B

VALUATION BANDS

A B C D E F G H

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Abbotsham 1,368.18 1,596.21 1,824.24 2,052.27 2,508.33 2,964.39 3,420.45 4,104.54

Abbots Bickington 1,341.00 1,564.50 1,788.00 2,011.50 2,458.50 2,905.50 3,352.50 4,023.00

Alverdiscott & Huntshaw 1,359.53 1,586.11 1,812.71 2,039.29 2,492.47 2,945.64 3,398.82 4,078.58

Alwington 1,363.50 1,590.75 1,818.00 2,045.25 2,499.75 2,954.25 3,408.75 4,090.50

Ashreigney 1,368.04 1,596.05 1,824.06 2,052.06 2,508.07 2,964.09 3,420.10 4,104.12

Ashwater 1,359.30 1,585.84 1,812.40 2,038.94 2,492.04 2,945.14 3,398.24 4,077.88

Beaford 1,363.06 1,590.23 1,817.41 2,044.58 2,498.93 2,953.28 3,407.64 4,089.16

Bideford 1,405.36 1,639.59 1,873.82 2,108.04 2,576.49 3,044.95 3,513.40 4,216.08

Black Torrington 1,372.96 1,601.78 1,830.61 2,059.43 2,517.08 2,974.73 3,432.39 4,118.86

Bradford & Cookbury 1,356.86 1,583.00 1,809.15 2,035.29 2,487.58 2,939.87 3,392.15 4,070.58

Bradworthy 1,371.18 1,599.70 1,828.24 2,056.76 2,513.82 2,970.88 3,427.94 4,113.52

Bridgerule 1,363.93 1,591.25 1,818.57 2,045.89 2,500.53 2,955.18 3,409.82 4,091.78

Broadwoodwidger 1,370.13 1,598.48 1,826.84 2,055.19 2,511.90 2,968.61 3,425.32 4,110.38

Buckland Brewer 1,367.78 1,595.73 1,823.70 2,051.66 2,507.59 2,963.51 3,419.44 4,103.32

Buckland Filleigh 1,374.34 1,603.40 1,832.46 2,061.51 2,519.62 2,977.74 3,435.85 4,123.02

Bulkworthy 1,341.00 1,564.50 1,788.00 2,011.50 2,458.50 2,905.50 3,352.50 4,023.00

Clawton 1,370.94 1,599.43 1,827.92 2,056.41 2,513.39 2,970.37 3,427.35 4,112.82

Clovelly 1,360.52 1,587.27 1,814.03 2,040.78 2,494.29 2,947.80 3,401.30 4,081.56

Dolton 1,369.49 1,597.73 1,825.99 2,054.23 2,510.73 2,967.22 3,423.72 4,108.46

Dowland 1,341.00 1,564.50 1,788.00 2,011.50 2,458.50 2,905.50 3,352.50 4,023.00

East & West Putford 1,356.10 1,582.11 1,808.13 2,034.14 2,486.17 2,938.20 3,390.24 4,068.28

Frithelstock 1,371.33 1,599.88 1,828.44 2,056.99 2,514.10 2,971.21 3,428.32 4,113.98

Great Torrington 1,425.44 1,663.00 1,900.58 2,138.15 2,613.30 3,088.44 3,563.59 4,276.30

Halwill 1,370.62 1,599.05 1,827.49 2,055.92 2,512.79 2,969.66 3,426.54 4,111.84

Hartland 1,365.28 1,592.83 1,820.38 2,047.92 2,503.01 2,958.11 3,413.20 4,095.84

High Bickington 1,359.56 1,586.15 1,812.75 2,039.34 2,492.53 2,945.72 3,398.90 4,078.68

Hollacombe 1,341.00 1,564.50 1,788.00 2,011.50 2,458.50 2,905.50 3,352.50 4,023.00

Holsworthy 1,439.57 1,679.49 1,919.43 2,159.35 2,639.21 3,119.06 3,598.92 4,318.70

Holsworthy Hamlets 1,361.68 1,588.62 1,815.57 2,042.51 2,496.40 2,950.29 3,404.19 4,085.02

Huish 1,341.00 1,564.50 1,788.00 2,011.50 2,458.50 2,905.50 3,352.50 4,023.00

Landcross & Littleham 1,354.36 1,580.09 1,805.82 2,031.54 2,482.99 2,934.45 3,385.90 4,063.08

Langtree 1,359.90 1,586.54 1,813.20 2,039.84 2,493.14 2,946.44 3,399.74 4,079.68

Little Torrington 1,353.50 1,579.08 1,804.67 2,030.25 2,481.42 2,932.59 3,383.75 4,060.50

Luffincott & Tetcott 1,367.76 1,595.72 1,823.68 2,051.64 2,507.56 2,963.48 3,419.40 4,103.28

Merton 1,385.45 1,616.35 1,847.27 2,078.17 2,539.99 3,001.80 3,463.62 4,156.34

Milton Damerel 1,357.01 1,583.17 1,809.35 2,035.51 2,487.85 2,940.18 3,392.52 4,071.02

Monkleigh 1,360.45 1,587.19 1,813.93 2,040.67 2,494.15 2,947.64 3,401.12 4,081.34

Northam 1,388.66 1,620.10 1,851.55 2,082.99 2,545.88 3,008.77 3,471.65 4,165.98

Newton St Petrock 1,341.00 1,564.50 1,788.00 2,011.50 2,458.50 2,905.50 3,352.50 4,023.00

Pancrasweek 1,353.92 1,579.56 1,805.22 2,030.87 2,482.18 2,933.48 3,384.79 4,061.74

Parkham 1,368.10 1,596.11 1,824.13 2,052.14 2,508.17 2,964.20 3,420.24 4,104.28

Peters Marland 1,351.00 1,576.17 1,801.34 2,026.50 2,476.83 2,927.17 3,377.50 4,053.00

Petrockstowe 1,358.12 1,584.47 1,810.83 2,037.18 2,489.89 2,942.60 3,395.30 4,074.36

Pyworthy 1,353.29 1,578.83 1,804.39 2,029.93 2,481.03 2,932.12 3,383.22 4,059.86

Roborough 1,359.38 1,585.94 1,812.51 2,039.07 2,492.20 2,945.33 3,398.45 4,078.14

Shebbear 1,367.00 1,594.83 1,822.67 2,050.50 2,506.17 2,961.84 3,417.50 4,101.00

Sheepwash 1,381.14 1,611.33 1,841.52 2,071.71 2,532.09 2,992.47 3,452.85 4,143.42

St Giles on the Heath & Northcott 1,380.86 1,610.99 1,841.14 2,071.28 2,531.57 2,991.85 3,452.14 4,142.56

St Giles in the Wood 1,358.08 1,584.42 1,810.77 2,037.11 2,489.80 2,942.49 3,395.19 4,074.22

Sutcombe 1,372.56 1,601.31 1,830.08 2,058.83 2,516.35 2,973.87 3,431.39 4,117.66

Thornbury 1,365.74 1,593.36 1,820.99 2,048.61 2,503.86 2,959.11 3,414.35 4,097.22

Virginstow 1,341.00 1,564.50 1,788.00 2,011.50 2,458.50 2,905.50 3,352.50 4,023.00

Weare Giffard 1,362.23 1,589.26 1,816.31 2,043.34 2,497.42 2,951.49 3,405.57 4,086.68

Welcombe 1,360.84 1,587.64 1,814.45 2,041.25 2,494.86 2,948.47 3,402.09 4,082.50

Winkleigh 1,373.07 1,601.91 1,830.76 2,059.60 2,517.29 2,974.98 3,432.67 4,119.20

Woolsery 1,362.42 1,589.49 1,816.56 2,043.63 2,497.77 2,951.91 3,406.05 4,087.26

Yarnscombe 1,374.02 1,603.02 1,832.03 2,061.03 2,519.04 2,977.05 3,435.05 4,122.06

Lundy 1,341.00 1,564.50 1,788.00 2,011.50 2,458.50 2,905.50 3,352.50 4,023.00Page 44



 
  

Agenda Item  

REPORT OF Finance Manager and Section 151 Officer 

To: Full Council 

Subject: Treasury Management Report & Capital Strategy 

Date: 22 February 2021 Reference:  

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:  
To consider the Treasury Management Strategy, Prudential Indicators and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy for 2021/22. 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
The Code of Practice on Treasury Management requires an annual report on Treasury 
Management Strategy to be prepared for the forthcoming financial year. In addition 
guidance issued under the Local Government Act 2003 recommends that an Annual 
Investment Strategy be adopted by Full Council together with the Prudential Indicators and 
the policy on Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). 

The Code of Practice on Treasury Management also requires that a “Capital Strategy” is 
approved by Full Council for the forthcoming financial year. 

 
2. REPORT 

 
The report for 2021/22 covers: 

 The Treasury Management and Investment Strategy, which sets out the approach to 
managing the cash movements during the year (Appendix 1). 

 The list of current counterparties (Appendix 2). 

 The Prudential Indicators, which show the impact on the Council’s financial position 
of the capital programme (Appendix 3). 

 The MRP policy, which sets out how much will need to be set aside from the 
revenue budget to repay prudential borrowing (Appendix 4). 

 The Capital Strategy, which is a long term strategic policy, linking asset 
management plans and strategic goals. (Appendix 5) 

 Ethical Investments – Update the Treasury Management Policy to prioritise 
investment in “Green Treasury Deposits” (Appendix 6) 

 

 

3. IMPLICATIONS 
 
Legal Implications 
Guidance from the Secretary of State recommends that the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy is approved by full Council 
 
Financial Implications 
The financial implications are included within the revenue budget medium term financial 
strategy. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



 
  

Human Resources Implications 
There are no implications. 
 
Sustainability Implications 
There are no implications. 
 
Equality/Diversity 
The matter of ethical investment has previously been considered. There have been no 
significant changes that would enable ethical investment to take greater prominence when 
considering investments. 
 
Risk Management 
The Treasury Management and Investment Strategy define the risk that the Council is willing 
to accept. 
 
Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
These are part of the report. 
 
Ward Member and Leader Member Views 
Date of Consultation – Cllr. Hodson – 11 February 2021 "Torridge District Council has 
fulfilled it’s obligations in accordance with Treasury Management Code of Practice. The 
Prudential Indicators show the impact on the Council’s financial position. The Indicators 
provide reassurance that the impact of approved capital programme is prudent in Treasury 
Management terms. I welcome and endorse the inclusion of an Ethical investment policy as 
recommended by Councillors at O&S within the Treasury Management Strategy” 
 

4. CONCLUSIONS 
 
The Strategy and Policy are being updated to reflect the capital programme and financial 
strategy that the authority has previously agreed, and to bring in “Green Treasury Deposits” 
to align with the councils declared “Climate Emergency”. 
 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
 That Council approves:- 

 

 The Treasury Management and Investment Strategy and Counterparty List, Prudential 
Indicators and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.  
 

 Updating the Treasury Management and Investment Strategy to prioritise “Green 
treasury Deposits” as detailed in Appendix 6 
 

 The Capital Strategy. 
 

 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Consultations: Date of Consultation – 11 February 2021 

Officers Consulted –  
Chief Executive 
Finance Manager and S151 Officer 
Head of Legal and Governance (& Monitoring Officer) 
 

Page 46



 
  

 Contact Officer: Peter Hudson – Senior Capital Accountant 

 Background Papers: Prudential Indicator calculations 

 

Page 47



APPENDIX 1 
 
TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Treasury Management and Investment Strategy for Year Ending 31 March 2022 
 
  
1.0 BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 
 
 

The proposed Treasury Management and Investment Strategy for the financial year 
2021/22 are set out in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management. The Strategy is in line with the Prudential Indicators approved by Council. 
 

 
2.0 

 
BORROWINGS 
 

2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
2.6 

No new long-term loans were taken out with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) during 
2020/21.  

Borrowings from PWLB at 31 March 2021 will total £0.661m. The next scheduled 
redemption occurs in March 2022 when a maturity type loan of £0.191m will be settled. 
Further ahead there are 3 fixed interest rate loans outstanding totalling £0.470m with 
redemption dates that run from March 2024 to March 2027.   
 
The approved Prudential Indicators envisage that substantial further long-term borrowing 
may be undertaken in the year 2021/22 relating to the new Environmental Centre. The 
Waste Review report approved by Full Council on 23rd January 2017, highlighted the 
potential requirement for up to £4.00m of external borrowing linked to the purchase of a 
new depot and this was incorporated into the 2017/18 Capital Programme. This borrowing 
is expected to be increased by full council by a further £1.6m to fund the new increased 
costs of the Environmental Centre.  
 
In addition to the Environmental Centre; borrowing of £1m was approved by full council on 
the 8th April 2019 (in order to increase the capital programme by £1m for 
homelessness/temporary accommodation). 
 
The Prudential Indicators on Appendix 3 to this report have been compiled on the 
assumption that the borrowing will take place in the 2021/22 financial year however the 
timing will be dependent upon the progress made with the project, the financial climate and 
the availability of internal resources.  
 
The Council will ensure that borrowing will only be undertaken when it is identified that 
there is a need to do so. 
 
The existing debt and loan schedule was considered in 2017/18 and it was concluded that 
there was no advantage from re-scheduling or early redemption of existing loans. 
 

 
3.0 

 
INVESTMENTS 
 

3.1 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 

The Annual Investment Strategy for the forthcoming year is prepared in accordance with 
guidance issued under the Local Government Act 2003.  
 

On 31st March 2021 short-term investments placed with financial institutions are estimated 
to be approximately £10m. The bulk of this amount represents the balances on Reserves 
and Usable Capital Receipts. 
 
The Capital Programme for 2021/22 will be financed from capital receipts, grants and 

Page 48



3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5 

contributions, revenue contributions, reserves and borrowing. Internal borrowing may also 
be utilised in the implementation of parts of the Waste Review / further spend on 
homelessness/temporary accommodation, and this will reduce the funds available for 
investment. 
 
The Investment Strategy during 2020/21 has been to keep investments at a shorter 
duration due to ensure cashflow requirements relating to government grant programmes as 
well as the delivery of the capital programme. With historically low yields this move to 
shorter term investments (compared with longer investment periods) has had little impact 
on the investment income the council receives. 
 
The Investment Strategy for 2021/22 will be to spread the investments across 
counterparties to minimise risk. Investment periods are expected to be maintained; interest 
rates are expected to remain at their current historically low level. It is anticipated that the 
level of investments will reduce further due to a projected budget shortfall and continued 
capital expenditure. 
 

 
4.0 

 
INTEREST RATES 
 

4.1 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
4.4 

During 2020/21 the Bank of England Bank Base Interest Rate has remained at 0.10%. 
     
The interest rate indications from the Bank of England’s latest meeting are for an 
expectation that the Bank Base Rate will stay low for some time. Though they are not 
expected to go negative, this is something the Bank of England has not ruled out. 
 
Short-term interest rates are around 0.05% for 3 months rising to 0.10% approaching one 
year. Interest rates available to the Torridge will be slightly lower because of the limited 
names on Counterparty List and the size of the amounts that we invest. 
 
Long term borrowing rates from the PWLB were increased by 1% on the 9th October 2019; 
this was done by the treasury to try to discourage some of the borrowing to invest that had 
been occurring by various councils around the country. This 1% increase has been 
reversed this year along with increased reporting requirements surrounding the nature and 
purpose of the borrowing.  The current impact of this means the interest on a 20 year loan 
will fall back to just under 2% from around 3%  

 
5.0 
 

 
COUNTERPARTY LIST & LIQUIDITY FRAMEWORK 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 

The security of an investment should be considered paramount together with liquidity to 
ensure that an investment will be repaid on the due date. These will be considered of 
greater importance than yield. Investment yield will only be considered after security, 
liquidity and market sector risk have been evaluated. 
 
In order to minimise the risk from a failed deposit-taker the Council sets a maximum 
investment amount and a maximum holding with any institution limit.  
 
The current limits are: 

 Maximum Investment amount to £3m. 

 Maximum holding with any individual institution £5m 
 
The Councils counterparty list includes all Fitch F1 rated UK Banks and Building Societies. 
 
The Authority will only undertake Specified Investments, which are denominated in sterling. 
Such investments can only be made with the United Kingdom Government, another local 
authority, or a body awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency. The Authority will 
not undertake Non-specified Investments. This strategy will avoid being locked into lower 
rates when interest rates rise and to ensure flexibility to fund the capital programme.   

Page 49



 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
 
5.8 
 

 
For the purposes of this Strategy a high credit rating is defined as short-term F1 or better as 
rated by Fitch Ratings Ltd. The Senior Capital Accountant maintains a counterparty list 
comprising UK Government Departments, UK Local Authorities and major banks and 
building societies with a minimum credit rating of Fitch F1 that operate in the local authority 
market. Guidance recommends that other factors and information such as the sovereign 
rating of a country or market data regarding the sector or the counterparty should also be 
considered.  
 
Link Asset Services (formerly known as Capita Asset Services) are engaged as the 
council’s external Treasury advisors. As part of their service they undertake a monthly 
review of investments held and produce a report to confirm the credit strength of 
investments held.  
 

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 
the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our 
external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in employing external 
providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which 
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular 
review. 
 
Appendix 2 gives details of our authorised counterparties comprising UK Government 
Departments, UK Local Authorities and major banks and building societies with a minimum 
credit rating of Fitch F1 that operate in the local authority market. A list of our current 
counterparties/investments is also given. The Credit ratings of the Counterparty List will be 
monitored at least quarterly to ensure they continue to meet the council’s requirements. 
Credit ratings of relevant counterparties will be checked on the day of (and prior to) the 
investment being placed. Some counterparties are not taking further deposits as they do 
not require further funding and this could limit our ability to invest at the most beneficial 
rates from time to time. 
 
Appendix 6 gives the details of the council’s approach to ethical investments, comprising of 
“green treasury deposits”, where such deposits are given priority if they meet the following 
conditions: 

 Meet the councils investing limits and credit requirements (i.e. F1 rated UK Banks 
and Building Societies) 

 Meet the investment timescales required to manage the councils cashflow (e.g. 3 
months / 6 months / 1 year) 

 Any reduced yield when comparing to standard treasury deposits is within 0.2% (at 
an annual rate) 

 
 
It is inevitable that as part of daily transactions and cash management, sums will be held 
with the council’s bankers consistent with the council’s cash management needs. The 
Council appointed Lloyds Bank as its bankers with effect from 1 January 2015. 
 
The Council has previously approved Svenska Handelsbanken to operate a call/short term 
notice account and will be operated when the interest rates on offer are competitive. 
Interest rates on call accounts will vary from time to time and it may be necessary to 
change providers from time to time. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
DELEGATION 

Page 50



 
6.0 

 

6.1 It should be recognised that the background to this Strategy may change very quickly which 
is why the detailed operation of the Treasury Management function is delegated to the 
S151 Officer.  
 
The S151 (responsible) officer is responsible for:- 

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance;  

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports;  

 submitting budgets and budget variations;  

 receiving and reviewing management information reports;  

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;  

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;  

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 
recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

 
Members should recognise that decisions often have to be taken quickly in the light of 
prevailing circumstances and that the strategy may therefore need to change during the 
course of the year. 
The Council’s Community and Resources Committee receive reports on treasury 
management policies, practices and activities and make recommendations to full Council. 

  
 
7.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS 
 
7.1 The Indicators for Treasury Management are as follows; 
 
7.2 The Council must set limits to contain the activity of the treasury function within certain 

limits. An upper limit is required on its fixed and variable interest rate exposures for 
outstanding principal sums on both borrowing and investment. 
 

Upper limit on  2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 
interest rate 
exposure % 
Principal 
outstanding 

Estimate Forecast 
Actual 
for 31st 
March 

Estimate Estimate Estimate 

      
Fixed Interest 
Rate Exposures 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Variable Interest 
Rate Exposures 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

    
 
 

     

7.3 Upper and lower limits are needed for the maturity structure of borrowing. The amount of 
projected borrowing that is at a fixed rate maturing in each period as a percentage of 
total projected borrowing that is fixed rate at the start of the period: 
  

 2020/21 
Actual 

Lower limit Upper limit 

    
Under 1 year  19% 0% 30% 
1 year < 2 years 24% 0% 30% 
2 years < 5 years 34% 0% 60% 
5 years < 10 years 23% 0% 60% 
10 years and above   0% 0% 100% 

 

Page 51



 
 
8.0 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The CIPFA Code requires the Responsible Officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to Members responsible for scrutiny. The need for 
Member training in treasury management will be revisited during 2021/22. 

 

Page 52



Appendix 2 

 
 
 
 
 

Current Counter-parties for deposits (as at 12th February 2021) 
 

 
 
Treasury management policy allows any Fitch F1 rated UK Bank or Building Society 
 
Current Counterparties (@ 12 February 2021): 
 
 

Counterparty £ 
Date 

Placed 
Date 

Returned 
Days Rate 

Lloyds Bank 1,000,000 18/01/2021 18/01/2022 365 0.10 

Leeds Building Soc 2,000,000 08/01/2021 08/07/2021 181 0.03 

Lloyds Bank (32 Day Notice Account) 4,000,000 11/06/2020 19/02/2021 N/A 0.05 

Lloyds Bank (32 Day Notice Account) 5,000,000 19/08/2020 19/02/2021 N/A 0.05 

Lloyds Bank (Instant Access Account) 5,000,000 04/09/2020 N/A N/A 0.01 

  17,000,000         

 
 
Investment in the above is subject to the counterparty having credit rating of F1 short 
term or better as rated by Fitch Ratings Ltd. At the time of investment and subject to 
counter-party limits. 
 
The maximum single deal size is £3m 
 
The maximum holding is £5m per counterparty.  
 
Investments may also be placed with United Kingdom Government Departments, 
agencies and other UK Local Government Authorities.    
 
Up to £8m may be held from time to time with the council’s bankers Lloyds in order to 
meet financial commitments as and when they are due. 
 
Counterparty Limits during the Global Pandemic 
 
Due to the global pandemic central government allocated Torridge with £35m of 
business grant funds to be paid out to local businesses, due to the size of this grant 
and the timing of the payments required, the funds were kept in Torridge’s main bank 
account, which exceeded the limit set by Torridge’s Treasury management strategy 
(of £8m).  
 
These initial grants have now been made and the excess funds repaid, however 
Torridge has received an extra £4m allocated for the second November lockdown, 
and another £12m, associated with the third January 2021 lockdown, for which grant 
payments are ongoing. Torridge currently has approximately £6m of funds which will 
be paid out to businesses or repaid to central government. 
 

Page 53



Appendix 2 

These funds are kept in short notice accounts with Lloyds bank, of which we currently 
have £15m (as at 12th February 2021, £10m above our counterparty limit). 
 

Page 54



 APPENDIX 3 

 TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 
 

1. The Prudential Code was introduced in response to the Local Government Act 2003 and 
regulations require local authorities to have regard to it when considering capital 
expenditure and financing. It requires Members to approve a number of Prudential 
Indicators in relation to the Capital Programme for the next three years. These are set out in 
succeeding paragraphs in the format required by the Code, which at times is extremely 
technical.  
 
A cautious approach has been adopted in operating of the Code. The following indicators 
are a continuation of the practices adopted in recent years and the uncertainty in the 
financial markets.  
 
 

2. The estimates of capital expenditure and finance for the current and future years that are 
recommended for approval are: 

     
 
It should be recognised that the estimates for 2020/21 to 2023/24 are based on the 
schemes approved to date. Any additional schemes will be funded from the Council’s own 
resources and will not involve additional prudential borrowing. 
 
 
 

3. 
 

The estimated Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) for the authority at the end of the 
current and future years, is: 
 

 
 
The CFR represents the underlying position as a result of financing decisions taken in 
earlier years plus new borrowing planned in the current and future year’s capital 
programmes.   

Page 55



4. The Prudential Code includes the following as a key indicator of prudence: 
 

“In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only be for a 
capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that net external borrowing 
does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.” 
 

 
 
The above table shows that the net borrowing is less than the Capital Financing 
Requirement as shown in 3 above, thus confirming that borrowing is for capital purposes 
only.  
 
Bracketed totals indicate that investment income exceeded borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities. 
 
 

5. In respect of its external debt the Council must set an Authorised Limit for its external debt 
gross of investments for the current and following three financial years. External debt 
includes both borrowing and the long term liability of leases and implied leases. 
 

 
 

The S151 Officer reports that these authorised limits are consistent with the authority’s 
current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in the budget report for capital 
expenditure and financing, and with its approved treasury management policy statement 
and practices. The S151 Officer confirms that they are based on the estimate of most likely, 
prudent but not worst case scenario, with additional sufficient headroom over and above 
this to allow for operational management, for example unusual cash movements. Risk 
analysis and risk management strategies have been taken into account, as have plans for 
capital expenditure, estimates of the capital financing requirement and estimates of cash 
flow requirements for all purposes. 
 
In taking its decisions on this report, the Council is asked to note that the Authorised Limit 
determined for 2020/21 Forecast, 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 will be the statutory limit 
determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

Page 56



6. The Council must also set an Operational Boundary for external debt for the same time 
period. The proposed operational boundary is based on the same estimates as the 
Authorised Limit but reflects directly the S151 Officer’s estimate of the most likely, prudent 
but not worst case scenario, without the additional headroom included within the authorised 
limit to allow for example for unusual cash movements, and equates to the maximum of 
external debt projected by this estimate. The Operational Boundary represents a key 
management tool for in year monitoring by the S151 Officer. 
 

 
 
It should be noted that actual external debt is not directly comparable to either the 
Authorised Limit or Operational Boundary, since the external debt reflects the position at 
one point in time.  
 
 

7. 
 

Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for the current and future 
years are: 
 

 
  
The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in this 
budget report. 
 
 

8. The Capital Financing Requirement is the authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital 
purpose. In accordance with best professional practice, Torridge District Council does not 
associate borrowing with particular items or types of expenditure. The authority has an 
integrated Treasury Management Strategy and has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for 
Treasury Management in the Public Services. Torridge District Council has, at any point in 
time, a number of cash flows both positive and negative, and manages its treasury position 
in terms of its borrowings and investments in accordance with its approved Treasury 
Management Strategy and practices. In day-to-day cash management, no distinction can 
be made between revenue cash and capital cash.  
 
The Council’s actual external debt at 31 March 2020 was £814K.  External borrowing arises 
as a consequence of all the financial transactions of the authority and not simply those 
arising from capital spending. In contrast, the Capital Financing Requirement in 3 above 
measures the authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose. 
 

9. In considering its programme for capital investment, the Council is required within the 
Prudential Code to have regard to: 

 Service Objectives, e.g. strategic planning for the authority 

 Stewardship of Assets, e.g. asset management planning 

 Value for Money, e.g. option appraisal 

 Prudence and Sustainability, e.g. implications for external borrowing and whole life 
costing 

 Affordability, e.g. implications for Council Tax 

 Practicality, e.g. achievability of the forward plan. 

 
Page 57



APPENDIX 4 

POLICY ON MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) 
 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 

Local authorities are required to make a minimum repayment of outstanding debt. 
Regulations require that local authorities determine their own policy. Associated 
guidance requires that only full Council can determine the policy. 

 
2.0 GUIDANCE ON MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) 
 

The main stipulation included in the regulations in determining a policy is that it 
ensures that the repayments are prudent. The Local Government Act 2003, as 
amended, requires that the policy has regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary 
of State. 
 
Revised guidance issued by the Secretary of State on 11 March 2010 to deal with 
some accounting changes continues the four options to calculate MRP, which can be 
combined as authorities see fit, in order to reach a prudent level of provision. The 
options are as follows; 
 

Option 1: Regulatory Method 
MRP is equal to the amount determined in accordance with the former regulations 
28 and 29 of the 2003 Regulations, as if they had not been revoked by the 2008 
Regulations. For the purposes of that calculation, the adjustment  should normally 
continue to have the value attributed to it by the authority in the financial year 
2004-05.  
 
Option 2: Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) Method 
MRP is equal to 4% of the non-housing CFR at the end of the preceding financial 
year. 
 
Option 3: Asset Life Method 
Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or partly by borrowing or 
credit arrangements, MRP is to be determined by reference to the life of the asset. 
 
Option 4: Depreciation Method 
MRP is to be equal to the provision required in accordance with depreciation 
accounting in respect of the asset on which expenditure has been financed by 
borrowing or credit arrangements. This should include any amount for impairment 
chargeable to the Income and Expenditure Account. 

 
From 2010/11 the Council adopted option 2 for capital expenditure from borrowing or a 
credit arrangement prior to 1 April 2010 and option 3 for capital expenditure financed 
from borrowing or a credit arrangement after that date as its policy.  
 
The CFR is the notional amount borrowed to finance capital and is calculated from the 
Council’s balance sheet and represents past expenditure that has not been funded 
from capital receipts, grants or revenue contributions. MRP is the charge to the 
General Fund as the repayment of principal on this notional borrowing and will reduce 
the CFR for future years. 
 
 

 
 

Page 58



3.0 POLICY ON MRP 
 

That MRP is calculated as follows; 
 

 For capital expenditure financed by an actual or implied credit arrangement 
then it is equivalent to the value to which the liability for that arrangement is 
reduced. 

 For capital expenditure that is initially financed by borrowing or credit 
arrangement but is due to be partly or fully financed by a future capital receipt 
then it is calculated by reference to the expected future net amount to be 
financed by borrowing or credit arrangement. If the actual amount of the 
capital receipt applied is different to that expected then it is recalculated by 
reference to the revised net amount. 

 For capital expenditure financed from borrowing or a credit arrangement on 
the basis of generating future income or revenue saving then it will be 
calculated such that there is no net additional cost to the Council either as set 
out in the project approval or as otherwise determined by the S151 Officer. In 
any event the repayment period cannot be greater than the expected life of the 
asset. 

 For capital expenditure not falling within any of the categories above and 
financed from borrowing or a credit arrangement prior to1 April 2010 it is 
calculated at 4% of CFR at the end of the preceding financial year.  

 For capital expenditure not falling within any of the categories above and 
financed from borrowing or a credit arrangement from 1 April 2010 is 
determined by reference to the life of the asset. 

 

Page 59



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
1 

 

 

Capital Strategy 

2021-22 

  

Page 60



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
2 

 

Background 

Purpose 

Timeframe 

Strategic Plan Goals 

1.  Capital Expenditure  

1.1  Strategic factors  

1.2  Governance  

1.3  Policies on Capitalisation  

1.4  Capital Expenditure Plans and Financing Strategies  

1.5  Asset Management Planning  

1.6  Investment Strategy  

2.  Debt, Borrowing and Treasury Management  

2.1  Projection of borrowing requirements  

2.2  Implications of borrowing  

2.2.1  Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)  

2.2.2  Interest payable  

2.2.3  Proportionality  

2.2.4  Prudential Indicators  

2.3  Treasury Management  

3.  Knowledge and Skills  

4.  Climate Emergency 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 61



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
3 

Background  

Local authorities are required by regulation to have regard for CIPFA‟s Prudential Code. The 

updated 2017 version requires that local authorities have in place a capital strategy. This is 

in order to demonstrate that the authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions 

in line with service objectives and overall organisational strategy and resources. The aim is 

to ensure decisions are being made with sufficient regard to the long run financing 

implications and potential risks to the authority.  

Purpose  

The Capital Strategy is a policy framework that sets out the principles to be used to guide the 

allocation of capital investment across all of the Council‟s services and informs decisions on 

capital spending priorities within the Council‟s 5-year Capital Plan.  

The Capital Strategy framework incorporates the following: 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

 Capital Programme 

 Project Initiation Documents (PID) 

 Strategic Property Acquisitions 

 Local Plan 

 Strategic Plan 

It is intended to give an overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 

management activity contribute to the provision of services, along with an overview of how 

associated risk is managed.  

Timeframe 

The Capital Strategy includes 

 Shorter term requirements 

 Medium term developments 

 Long term strategies & Goals 

Capital Strategy Years 1 – 5 Years 6 - 10 Years 11 - 15 Years 16 - 20 

 
21/22 - 25/26 26/27 - 30/31 31/32 - 35/36 36/37 - 40/41 

Short/Medium Term: 

                    Budget & MTFS                                         

Capital Program                                         

PIDs                                         

Medium/Long Term: 

                    Strategic 
Acquisitions 

                                        

Long Term: 

                    Local Plan                                         

Strategic Plan                                         
 

Note:  Local plan is a 20 year plan from 2011 to 2031  

Strategic Plan is a 5 year plan from 2016 to 2020 

Page 62



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
4 

 

Strategic Plan - Priorities: 

 

1. Capital Expenditure  

 

1.1 Strategic factors  

The capital programme is detailed at 1.4,  the capital strategy which underpins it is driven by 

a number of factors:  

The Torridge District Council Strategic Plan. The overall aim is to focus our resources to 

shape services to withstand future technological, economic and social changes, 

championing the district, our people, environment, business and heritage. Projects within the 

Page 63



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
5 

capital programme which reflect this include provisions for significant investment in town 

centres and employment land, flood alleviation, housing grants and affordable housing.  

The Local Plan, which guides development in the district, setting out policies, proposals and 

actions to meet the environmental, social and economic challenges facing the area. This 

includes supporting infrastructure for proposed developments. The capital programme 

shows contributions to increase employment infrastructure with several commercial 

developments, regeneration projects including a new Northam Burrows Visitor Centre, 

various environmental and property/infrastructure projects including a new recycling depot, 

green spaces, sports and leisure facilities.  

The council’s asset management plan, which sets out the council‟s approach to the 

strategic management of its land and building assets. It aims to ensure the council 

maximises use and efficiency of its property portfolio, making a long term positive 

contribution to service delivery. The capital programme includes items which invest in 

council buildings, such as improvements to Riverbank House. The capital programme is 

supported by any capital receipts arising from the disposal of assets.  

The council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy – the programme must be affordable 

within the council‟s overall budget plans. This means that business cases for projects funded 

by borrowing must demonstrate that they will cover the revenue costs associated with 

borrowing over the life of the asset.  

CIPFA and Government guidance – the council must have regard to both CIPFA‟s 

Prudential Code (capital expenditure and financing) and its Treasury Management Code (the 

management of borrowing, investments and cash flow). Both of these Codes were recently 

updated at the end of 2017. In addition the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) issued updated statutory guidance on investments and minimum 

revenue provision in February 2018.  

 

1.2 Governance  

Responsibility for decision-making and ongoing monitoring in respect of capital expenditure, 

investment and borrowing, including prudential indicators remains with Full Council. Each 

year, the budget process reports to Full Council across a range of strategies and information 

which is relevant to capital expenditure, investment plans and financing implications, to 

ensure that decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice and in full 

understanding of the risks involved.  

The capital programme is considered annually by Full Council. Updates are reported to 

O&S and C&R throughout the year, with any budgetary changes approved by reference to 

the virement rules in the financial procedures.  

The Treasury Management strategy, which sets out policies relating to the management of 

investments, balancing security, liquidity and yield. This is approved annually by Full Council 

and includes the approved counterparty list and the council‟s approach to borrowing. .  

Page 64



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
6 

The Minimum Revenue Provision Statement sets out the council‟s method of making 

prudent provision from revenue in respect of capital expenditure financed by borrowing or 

credit arrangements. Any changes are required to be approved by Full Council.  

The Prudential Indicators aim to demonstrate whether the Council has fulfilled the 

objectives of an affordable, prudent and sustainable approach to capital expenditure, 

investment and debt. Any revisions are required to be approved by Full Council.  

Role of the Asset & Capital Monitoring Working Group  

Torridge District Council operates an Asset & Capital Monitoring Working Group, with 

members including senior officers across a range of services. Its role is to consider and 

prioritise capital proposals, ensuring that proper option appraisals are carried out and that 

they have considered in sufficient detail those matters which are required to be taken into 

account by the Prudential Code:  

 Strategic service objectives  

 Stewardship of assets  

 Value for money (option appraisals)  

 Prudence and sustainability (including external debt implications and impact on 

revenue budgets)  

 Affordability  

 Practicality (including staff resource requirements)  

 

Initial proposals are submitted by completion of the Project Initiation Document (PID), which 

includes a financial appraisal including the capital impact, grants available, proposed 

funding, and ongoing revenue/expenditure implications. All the projects are reviewed and 

challenged by the Asset and Capital Monitoring Group (ACMG) prior to them being 

presented to Members and reported to the Community & Resources Committee. 

Consideration is also given to the organisational capacity of the council to deliver the 

projects in the required. All PIDs require final approval by full council.  

The Asset & Capital Monitoring Working Group also monitors the existing capital programme 

to ensure its continued relevance, consider the progress of schemes including variations and 

re-phasing and to identify or reallocate unused resources.  

The role of the Asset & Capital Monitoring Working Group is crucial to ensuring that the risks 

associated with capital investments are mitigated. It ensures that projects demonstrate 

affordability, that there is wide consultation to ensure proper procedures are followed, for 

example tender processes, legal and financial matters. It also considers whether there are 

sufficient resources for effective project management and delivery.  

 

1.3 Policies on Capitalisation  

The Council‟s accounts are required to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting 

practices. For capital, these practices are governed by the Local Authorities (Capital Finance 

and Accounting)(England) Regulations 2003 (SI 2003 No 3146, as amended) supported by 

Page 65



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
7 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Local authorities must also have regard 

to CIPFA‟s Prudential Code.  

The Council‟s Statement of Accounts includes detailed policies on the treatment of different 

asset classes. Capital documentation such as the PID is considered by the Asset & Capital 

Monitoring Working Group to ensure that projects meet the requirements for capital 

expenditure. There are three routes by which expenditure might qualify as capital:  

The expenditure results in the acquisition of, or the addition of subsequent costs to non-

current assets in accordance with proper practices.  

REFCUS expenditure (Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute): These are 

arrangements which recognise that some expenditure incurred by local authorities has a 

wider, lasting public benefit than is reflected in the accounting rules for non-current assets, 

for example grants and loans and expenditure on non-Council assets.  

The Secretary of State makes a direction that the expenditure can be treated as capital 

expenditure.  

The Council‟s de minimus for capital is £10,000.  

 

1.4 Capital Expenditure Plans and Financing Strategies  

The Council‟s capital expenditure plans for the remaining years of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy and capital programme will amount to £26.1 million assuming full council 

approve all the proposed PIDs for inclusion in the 2021/22 programme. The updated capital 

programme is summarised in the table below: 

 
2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

 
Total 

 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 
£'000 

CarPs 271  80  80  80  80  80  
 

671  

Depot 5,450  1,550  -  -  -  -  
 

7,000  

DFG 808  500  500  -  -  -  
 

1,808  

Hous 694  100  150  -  -  -  
 

944  

Enviro 716  144  -  -  -  -  
 

861  

Infra 882  379  425  510  100  100  
 

2,396  

IT 323  28  28  20  80  80  
 

559  

Regen 2,274  (553) 4,106  -  -  -  
 

5,827  

V&P 727  180  557  642  74  2,554  
 

4,734  

Culture & 
Sport 24  350  -  -  -  -  

 
374  

Strategic 794  200  -  -  -  -  
 

994  

 
12,963  2,958  5,846  1,252  334  2,814  

 
26,167  

         Expenditure (to 
date) (1,648) 

      
(1,648) 

         

 
11,316  

      
24,520  

 

Page 66



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
8 

Sources of funding  

The programme is funded from a combination of capital receipts, revenue contributions, 

grants and external contributions (including Section 106 contributions), and borrowing. A 

summary of the identified sources of financing are explained in further detail below. 

Capital Program 20/21 - 25/26 
  

Funding - 
£'000 

Existing Capital Resource     

Capital Investment Reserve   3,474  

Vehicle Replacement Reserve   846  

IT Equipment Reserve     100  

Economic Regeneration Reserve   1,125  

Other Grants     1,582  

Disabled Facilities (Better Care Fund)   850  

Subtotal     7,976  

Forecast Capital Funding     

New Homes Bonus (2020/21 - 2025/26)   1,725  

Capital Receipts (RTB Former Council Housing) 550  

External Grants     2,830  

Sale Receipts     3,915  

Disabled Facilities Grant     1,000  

Prudential Borrowing (Refuse Depot)   5,550  

Prudential Borrowing (Homelessness Provision) 1,000  

Additional Contributions from Reserve   1,763  

Subtotal - Projected Sources of Capital Funding 18,334  

  
 

    

Total Projected Capital   26,310  

 

The Capital programme and subsequent funding, is regularly updated to reflect inflation. This 

can result in a funding shortfall / funding gap, if/when this occurs then members are 

consulted to look for ways to close any shortfall/gap. This may involve not proceeding with 

certain projects, making projects self financing. Priority is given to the capital required for the 

longevity of the council, and to meet it‟s statutory duties. 

Section 106 contributions are received from developers in relation to specific needs such 

as leisure and open space improvements, affordable housing, air quality and drainage 

improvements.  

Grants and external contributions are received from a range of government and agency 

sources towards expenditure such as Disabled Facilities Grants, flood alleviation and 

prevention and open space and leisure improvements.  

Capital schemes funded by Section 106 contributions, grants or external contributions are 

required to follow the capital approval process to ensure that the matters which the 

Prudential Code requires to be taken into account are considered. For example, strategic 

service objectives, revenue budget implications and the practicalities of delivery.  

Torridge Capital Funding. There are two ways in which the council can directly contribute 

to capital projects. Capital Receipts are funds which result from events such as the disposal 

of assets or the repayment of loans which were made for a capital purpose. The Council also 

Page 67



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
9 

receives Right to Buy receipts, these relate to the housing stock that was transferred to 

Tarka Housing (now Westward Housing) in 2008; these Right to Buy receipts will be 

received for 20 years from the date of the housing transfer, at 100% for the first ten years 

(2008 to 2017), and at 50% for the last 10 years (2018 to 2027).  

Revenue Contribution 

Projects funded by capital receipts and revenue contributions include contributions to car 

park improvements, improvements to Council buildings, replacement of the Council‟s vehicle 

fleet and equipment including IT projects, contributions to grant schemes as “match” funding 

(e.g. the new skate park), etc. 

Borrowing  

Projects which are not funded by one of the sources above are initially funded by borrowing 

and must first demonstrate a sound business case during the capital approval process. This 

is because there are revenue budget implications associated with borrowing. Both the 

principal borrowed and interest costs will have to be repaid and it is essential that the capital 

programme remains affordable, prudent and sustainable with regard to:  

 Capital financing costs, eg. interest  

 Loss of investment income  

 Other income and costs eg. rent, fees & charges, salaries, rates, energy and 

maintenance arising from the investment  

 MRP – this is the statutory requirement to charge the revenue account with the 

principal cost of capital expenditure which has not been met from grants, 

contributions or capital receipts. It is explained in the Council‟s Minimum Revenue 

Provision statement.  

Business cases must demonstrate a scheme‟s ability to cover all the relevant costs above 

for the whole life of the asset.  

See Section 2 below for a projection of the Council‟s borrowing requirements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 68



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
10 

1.5 Asset Management Planning  

The Council‟s approach to its strategic management of its land and building assets is set out 

in the Asset Management Plan. This plan is currently being updated. It seeks to make sure 

the Council and its communities get the best use out of property assets. It also aspires to 

ensure property assets are used in the most effective and efficient way to support service 

strategies and policies and our community and strategic public sector partners.  

Property represents the Council‟s largest physical resource in financial terms. It supports 

and underpins all of our service activities. Strategic Asset Management must therefore be an 

integral element of high quality service planning aligning the disposition, quality and 

effectiveness of property assets with ongoing service strategies.  

Property assets are expensive, in terms of both their capital value and revenue costs; they 

need to be carefully managed over their lives to ensure best value through their use, 

maintenance and generation of income. Any disposal of assets will result in capital receipts, 

which can then be reinvested in the capital programme. There needs to be realistic 

assumptions about the achievable capital receipts which council assets can deliver. These 

values should be constantly updated to inform the capital programme.  

1.6 Investment Strategy – Income Generation Working Group 

The council has an income generation working group, which meets regularly. Its aim is to 

ensure that the council is commercially aware in an evolving and ever changing 

environment, and adopts a more entrepreneurial approach to investment strategies. Its main 

areas of consideration are: 

 Fees and Charges 

 Asset management 

 Commercialisation 

 Investment and Alternative Delivery Methods (ADMs) 

2. Debt, Borrowing and Treasury Management  

2.1 Projection of borrowing requirements  

The capital programme contains projects which would not be immediately funded by grants, 

contributions, capital receipts or revenue contributions. The projected borrowing from the 

capital programme gives an estimate of the council‟s future borrowing requirements. The 

Main such project is the provision of a “New Environmental Centre” which has a project 

budget of approx. £7m (£5.6m of which is funded through borrowing), authorisation has been 

granted to borrow externally for the “New Environmental Centre” (internal borrowing is also 

an option where the council would fund internally from its other cash balances). 

In addition £1m of additional borrowing has also been authorised in order to increase the 

capital programme to include £1m of capital spend on homelessness/temporary 

accommodation. 

Acceptable sources of loans are the Public Works Loans Board, other local authorities, 

public bodies and UK banks and building societies. 

Page 69



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
11 

 

2.2 Implications of borrowing  

2.2.1 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)  

All capital expenditure has to be financed from capital receipts, grants and contributions 

(such as S106) or eventually from revenue income. Where local authorities borrow to fund 

capital expenditure, there is a requirement to ensure that they put aside enough revenue 

money over time to cover those debts. This is MRP and the broad aim is to ensure that the 

period over which it is charged is commensurate with the period over which the capital 

expenditure provides benefits.  

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the council to have regard to the Ministry of 

Housing, Communities and Local Government‟s (MHCLG) Guidance on MRP. This guidance 

requires the council to approve an annual MRP statement and recommends a number of 

options for calculating the required prudent provision, while also not ruling out other methods 

should they be deemed more appropriate. This is discussed in more depth in the council‟s 

Minimum Revenue Provision Statement.  

The council has taken into account the recently updated MHCLG Statutory Guidance on 

Local Government Investments and Minimum Revenue Provision.  

2.2.2 Interest payable  

Based on the projected borrowing discussed above of £6.6m for the new Environmental 

Centre & homelessness accommodation, and a maturity structure which is spread to 

mitigate against interest rate risk, it is calculated that interest payable would be £132k per 

year.  

It should be borne in mind that the business cases for each project would need to 

demonstrate that they would achieve sufficient return to cover interest costs and any MRP.  

2.2.3 Proportionality  

In its new investment guidance, MHCLG introduces the concept of proportionality. This is to 

allow assessment of the contribution of yield-bearing investments to the achievement of a 

balanced budget.  

2.2.4 Prudential Indicators  

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the council to have regard to CIPFA‟s Prudential 

Code. Its objectives are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital expenditure 

plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable and that treasury 

management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice, with an 

understanding of the risks involved. Local authorities must look at capital expenditure and 

investment plans in the light of overall organisational strategy and resources, ensuring 

decisions are made with sufficient regard to the long run financing implications and potential 

risks to the authority.  

To that end, the Prudential Code sets out indicators which must be approved by Full Council 

and factors which must be taken into account.  

Page 70



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
12 

In setting its Prudential Indicators, the council sets borrowing limits which are affordable and 

sustainable. The authorised (absolute) limit and operational (day-to-day) boundary are 

consistent with the council‟s capital programme and treasury management strategy.  

Estimates of capital expenditure and the capital financing requirement bring together past 

and future capital commitments for consideration of affordability.  

The treasury management prudential indicators are designed to deliver accountability in 

taking capital financing, borrowing and treasury management decisions. They also highlight 

possible risks such as interest rate exposure and demonstrate the policies in place to 

mitigate the risks, for example, limiting the length of investments and the maturity structure 

of borrowing.  

2.3 Treasury Management  

Management of the Council‟s cash balances and borrowing is governed by the Treasury 

Management strategy. The council‟s investment priorities relating to this area are security of 

the principal sums and liquidity, keeping money readily available for expenditure when 

needed. Yield becomes a consideration after the priorities have been satisfied. Investments 

are “specified” as defined in the MHCLG 2018 investment guidance; in sterling, placed with 

the UK government, other local authorities or bodies and investment schemes of high credit 

quality, determined by the counterparty list, which is reviewed quarterly and updated as 

necessary.  

The council‟s Treasury Management schedules require that institutions meet the following 

minimum rating of F1 from the Fitch Rating Agency. 

Torridge District Council also obtains treasury management advice form Link Asset 

Management, which includes staff training & updates on latest developments, monthly 

investment reports, database of ratings from agencies for all counterparties, and other ad 

hoc support. 

The Treasury Management strategy also sets out the Council‟s approach to borrowing and is 

underpinned by the Prudential Code and MHCLG investment guidance. Any decision to 

borrow for capital projects or debt maturities would only occur if there was a clear business 

case to do so. Borrowing may occur to cover temporary shortfalls in cash balances.  

The Council will adopt a flexible approach to borrowing, making use of internal resources 

and keeping shorter term borrowing under review in comparison to longer term borrowing 

costs. This approach is to minimise financing costs and to spread re-financing risk. 

Acceptable sources of loans are the PWLB, the UK Municipal Bonds Agency, local 

authorities, public bodies and UK banks and building societies. Officers will also review 

alternative sources of borrowing and select those offering the best value for money to the 

Council at the time the funding is required.  

The latest Treasury Management Code includes investments which fall outside normal 

treasury management activity. Commercial investments for financial benefit rather than for 

service outcomes are sometimes entered into outside of normal treasury management 

activity. These need careful financial risk assessment. Where such investments do not give 

priority for security and liquidity over yield, CIPFA recommends that such a decision should 

Page 71



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
13 

be explicit, setting out the risks and the impact on financial sustainability. This is a critical 

purpose of due diligence procedures. The Council currently has no plans to undertake any 

such borrowing. 

 

 

3. Knowledge and Skills  

The Prudential Code requires that the capital strategy gives details of the knowledge and 

skills available to the authority and confirmation that they are commensurate with its risk 

appetite.  

As a district council, Torridge strikes a balance between the retention of suitably qualified 

staff and the use of external expertise where this offers best value and flexible use of 

resources.  

Treasury management staff receive internal training from experienced staff and managers. 

Staffing is arranged so that a bank signatory is always available for consultation on 

decisions. Procedure and system notes, together with official guidance from CIPFA and the 

MHCLG are maintained for consultation within the section. These are updated for any 

changes, which are also communicated to the relevant staff. Bank signatories are 

professionally qualified accountants 

In terms of capital expenditure, the Council has the benefit of the experience of three fully 

qualified chartered accountants. It also has access to specialist advice through subscription 

to consultants who specialise in local authority accounting and capital finance. In addition, 

knowledge and skills are shared throughout the region via the Devon Accounting 

Development Group.  

In relation to the investment strategy, as well as the experience of RICS-qualified staff, the 

Council has working relationships with a range of specialist consultants whose areas of 

expertise include property management, development and infrastructure, investment and 

valuation.  

Council officers across a range of disciplines, including Property, Planning, and Finance as 

well as other service areas, make up the Asset & Capital Monitoring Working Group to 

ensure project appraisal is subject to wide early scrutiny and practical considerations.  

The Council‟s constitution ensures an effective governance process. The chief finance 

officer is responsible for ensuring that all matters required to be taken into account are 

reported to the decision-making body (normally Full Council). 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



Torridge District Council Capital Strategy 2021-22 
 

 
14 

4. Climate Emergency  

Torridge District Council has declared a 'Climate Emergency'. We have committed to a 

target of net zero carbon emissions from our operations by 2030. We also recognise the 

impacts we have on the residents, businesses and communities or Torridge through a range 

of functions and services that we deliver. We are currently developing a Carbon, 

Environment and Biodiversity Plan that will see us move to a low carbon, sustainable and 

resilient future and support our communities in this vital journey. 

This „Climate Emergency‟ will have an impact on our capital programme, and capital strategy 

going forward, resulting in extra costs and commitments. 

These additional costs and commitments are not quantifiable at this time. 

Page 73



Appendix 6 

Ethical Investments (Green Treasury Deposits) 
 

 
1. Introduction 
  

Members have expressed an interest in investing in green and sustainable enterprises, 
with respect to our treasury management resources. 
 
30th October 2017 
Ethical Investment “Funds” were suggested and approved by members at the mid year 
treasury review. 
 
27th March 2018 
Ethical investment appendix included in the 2018/19 treasury management strategy, 
requiring clarification from members, before any investments can be made. 
 
October 2019 
Enquiries made to external advisors, regarding “Ethical Investment” options, as this is 
a new evolving area of investment, and as such new products are being introduced. 
 
Two new products were suggested: 

- Standard Chartered Green and Sustainable Product Framework 
- Barclays Green Product Framework 

 
October 2020 
Income Generation Working Group reviewed the type of ethical investments available, 
and how they would fit in to Torridge’ treasury management policy and resources. 
 
December 2020 
Income Generation Working Group recommended investing in Green/Ethical Treasury 
Deposits to Internal O&S. 
 
December 2020 
Internal O&S recommended investing in Green/Ethical Treasury Deposits to Full 
Council. 
 
 

2. Income Generation Working Group – Considerations 
 
The following key points were considered: 
 

 Torridge’s treasury management policy currently only allows treasury deposits 
with UK Banks or Building Societies that are F1 rated (Fitch) 
 

 Torridge’s Treasury management policy priorities are as follows: 
o Security  
o Liquidity 
o Yield 

 

 Torridge current available funds are all short term (less than 1 year), with 
significant borrowing planned for the capital programme over future years. 

 
 

 

Page 74



 
 
3. Income Generation Working Group – Recommendation to Internal O&S 

 
The Income Generation Working Group recommends investing in: 
 
“Green Treasury Deposits” (see appendix 1 for examples) 
 
With the following addition to Torridge’s treasury management policy (requiring full 
council approval): 
 
Green Treasury Deposits should be prioritised in the following circumstances: 
 

 They are with UK Banks (or Building Societies) that are F1 rated (Fitch) 

 Appropriate investment period is available for cashflow management (i.e. 3 
months / 6 months / etc) 

 The interest rate is within 0.20% of standard treasury deposits. * 
 
* note: This sets a limit to the foregone interest of £2,000 per £1m invested per year. 

 
 

4. Internal O&S – Recommendation to Full Council 
 
Internal O&S on the 15th December 2020 resolved to recommend the above in section 
3 to be taken to full council for approval. 
 
 
 

Appendix 1: 
 
Examples of Green treasury deposits: 
 

 Barclays 

 Lloyds 

 Standard Chartered 

Page 75



 
  

Agenda Item  

REPORT OF Leader of the Council and HR & Comms Manager 

To: Full Council 

Subject: Pay Policy requirements of the Localism Act 

Date: February 2021 Reference:  

 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
1. This report invites Members to agree to a Pay Policy statement, in accordance with the requirements 

of the Localism Act 
2. The report does not ask Members to agree to any changes to the Pay Policy or the remuneration of 

senior officers.   

 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 

Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) requires English and Welsh local authorities to 
produce a statutory pay policy statement for each financial year.  
 
Under the Localism Act a Chief Officer is defined as 
 
The Head of the Councils paid service designated under section 4(1) of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 
Its monitoring officer designated under section 5 (1) of that Act 
A statutory Chief Officer mentioned in Section 2(6) of that Act 
A non statutory officer mentioned in 2(7) of that Act 
A Deputy chief officer mentioned in section 2(8) of that Act 
 
In Torridge District Council this definition would apply to the following posts: Chief Executive, 
Head of Legal & Governance, Head of Communities & Place, Finance Manager & s151 officer. 
 

2. REPORT 
 

Current Approach to Pay and Reward 
 

In line with the recent management restructure the Council has reviewed its pay arrangements for 
Chief Officers. With the exception of the wider operational management team, all staff are on 
grades within a single pay spine, with their terms and conditions reflecting a nationally agreed 
package (known as the ‘Green Book’). In general terms, these arrangements are owned and 
accepted by colleagues, perhaps as best evidenced by the absence of a ‘grading appeal’ culture. All 
grades provide opportunity for progression by annual increments and other than operational staff 
most colleagues have opportunity to attain a work-life balance by using ‘flexi-time’. 

 
The Council’s most senior officers are paid on salaries set by the Council with the benefit of 

external advice received from South West Councils.  

Pay Policy Statement  

Page 76

Agenda Item 9



 
  

Attached is a draft Pay Policy which, subject to the approval of Full Council, will be published on 

the Council’s web-site.  

The Pay Policy is a statement of current practice and can be altered by Full Council at any time. In 

any event a Pay Policy statement for 2022/23 and so on will in the future have to be specifically 

agreed each financial year.  

The Act requires that the Pay Policy statement applies specifically to Chief Officers (a term which 
includes both statutory Chief Officers and non statutory Chief Officers) and it is proposed that at 
Torridge this includes those officers whose terms and conditions reflect those determined by the 
Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities and specifically the Chief 
Executive, Head of Legal & Governance , Head of Communities & Place and Finance Manager & 
s151 officer.  

The Pay Policy and the Appendix to that policy (also attached) meets the requirements of the Act 
and has regard to both guidance and recommended practice. In particular, regard has been paid to 
the Hutton Report (on public sector pay) which was published in 2011. Hutton concluded that the 
most appropriate metric for calculating pay dispersion is the multiple of Chief Executive to median 
earnings.  He also concluded that tracking this multiple will ensure public service organisations are 
accountable for the relationship between the pay of their executives and the wider workforce. The 
current multiples are set out in the appendix to the Pay Policy. 
 
The draft Pay Policy Statement indicates that the Council will track this multiple annually and will 
also publish the following information (included as an Annex to the Policy): 

 

 the level and elements of remuneration for each senior officer; 

 the remuneration of the lowest paid employee; 

 the relationship between the remuneration of the Council’s senior officers and other 
officers; 

 other specific aspects of senior officer remuneration, and 

 the multiple of Chief Executive to the average or mean earnings, which is another metric 
for pay dispersion referred to in guidance. 

Future Developments 
 
With regard to any future Management changes Members can be assured that by agreeing to this 
Policy now, it will not preclude the development of revised arrangements for whatever senior posts 
may exist in the future.  

 
 

3. IMPLICATIONS 
 
Legal Implications 
 
Publication of a Pay Policy is a requirement of the Localism Act 
 
Financial Implications 
 
 
Human Resources Implications 
 

Page 77



 
  

Determining pay and reward arrangements has the potential to fundamentally alter the 
employment relationship and any changes need to be handled with care.  
 
Sustainability Implications 
 
 
Equality/Diversity 
 
Any changes to pay and reward arrangements must be ‘equality proofed’ 
 
Risk Management 
 
Not having an updated published Pay Policy in place would represent an unacceptable risk to the 
Council’s reputation. 
 
Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
 
 
Lead Member Views 
 
It is important that this council continues its intention to be fully open and transparent in all 
aspects, by complying with this legislation it is further step in that aim 
 

4. CONCLUSIONS 
 

The reward arrangements for senior officers are very transparent and reflect external advice.  
 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The Council should approve the Pay Policy 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Consultations: Leader 

 
 

 Contact Officer: Sarah Ayres 
HR & Comms Manager 
 

   

 
 
 
 

Page 78



 
Torridge District Council 

 
Pay Policy Statement – as at March 2021 

 
Purpose and Scope of the Policy 
 
1. Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 requires English and Welsh local authorities to produce a statutory pay policy 

statement for 2012/13 and for each financial year after that.  
 
2. In the context of managing scarce public resources, the Council seeks to balance the need to set pay levels that are 

adequate to secure and retain high-quality employees dedicated to the service of the public, with a need to ensure 
that pay is not unnecessarily generous or otherwise excessive.  The Council also recognises that individuals have 
contractual and other rights that cannot be altered unilaterally by the Council. 

 
3. Over recent years the Council has modernised its pay and reward arrangements through the implementation of 

single status and by setting the pay of its most senior officers with the benefit of external advice. In addition, the pay 
of senior officers has been published on the Councils web site. 

 
4. This pay policy statement applies to those officers whose terms and conditions reflect those determined by the Joint 

Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities. For the purposes of this policy the Council’s Chief 
Officers are the: 

 

 Chief Executive 

 Head of Legal and Governance 

 Head of Communities and Place 

 Finance Manager & s151 officer 
 

5. The Hutton Report (on public sector pay, published in 2011) outlined that the most appropriate metric for pay 
dispersion is the multiple of Chief Executive to median earnings.  It suggests that tracking this multiple will ensure 
public service organisations are accountable for the relationship between the pay of their executives and the wider 
workforce. Through this pay policy statement, the Council will track this multiple annually and will also publish the 
following information (please see the Appendix): 

 

 The level and elements of remuneration for each of the posts identified in paragraph 4 above; 

 Other specific aspects of remuneration associated with these posts. 

 The remuneration of the lowest paid employees; 

 The multiple of Chief Executive Service salary to median  

 The multiple of Chief Executive salary to the average or mean earnings, which is another metric for pay 
dispersion. 
 

Specific Policy Aspects 

 

6. When setting or revising salaries for these posts:  

 The Council will make comparisons with similar organisations, with an aim to paying at or around the median 
comparable salary level. 

 The Council will take independent pay advice from South West Councils.  

 The Council will have due regard to balance the need to ensure value for money with the need for the Council 
to recruit and retain high quality senior officers in the context of national, regional and local labour markets and 
the particular circumstances or challenges faced at that time. This may include any market supplement.  

 

7.  Consistent with the relevant national terms and conditions, Chief Officers are required to devote their whole time 

service to the work of the Council (which may for this purpose also include other organisations where there is 

responsibility for such activities) and cannot engage in business or take up other paid employment without the Page 79



express permission of the Council. In addition, and although these officers are employed for a notional 37 hours per 

week, they are expected to work such additional hours as may be reasonably required, without additional 

recompense or time off in lieu. 

8. Any termination payments to Chief Officers on ceasing office will, in the event of redundancy, comply with the 

Council’s policy for managing change.   Any other payments on termination of employment will accord with the 

arrangements set out in the Council’s constitution and scheme of delegation.  

9.  Additional payments are made by Central Government to officers carrying out additional duties at elections.  These 

payments are not within the scope of this policy. 

Monitoring  

10. Through this policy the pay multiple of the Chief Executive will be monitored annually.  Should the multiplier between 
the annual salary paid to a full time employee (excluding any apprentices) on the lowest spinal column point and the 
annual salary paid to the Chief Executive be greater than 10, this will be reported by the Leader of the Council to Full 
Council for consideration.  

 
11.  Annual monitoring of this policy will take place in relation to each forthcoming financial year. As at 31 March 2021 

the pay multiple will be 6.1. 
  
Outcomes 
 
12.  In determining this policy the Council will ensure that the process for setting pay at a senior level is transparent.  This 

policy will be reviewed annually to track the relationship of Chief Officer pay with the rest of the workforce. Other 
reviews may take place as determined appropriate from time to time. 
 

Policy/Strategy Consultation 
 
13. This policy has been agreed by Full Council. 

 
Equality Impact Considerations 

 

14. The principles of equal pay are integral to this policy. The Council ensures equal pay through a transparent job 
evaluation process for the majority of posts and by having regard to external advice when setting the pay of its most 
senior officers, as identified in this policy. 

 
 

 

 

Page 80



 

Appendix 

 

The levels and elements of remuneration for each Chief Officer are: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The full time rate of pay for the lowest paid employee is as follows (not including apprentices): 

 

 

 

 

The multiplier of the remuneration of the Chief Executive and other officers based upon taxable earnings: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The pay multiple this is calculated by comparing the pay of the Chief Executive with the average (or mean) and median 
basic pay levels.  
 

 

Post Title Remuneration 

Chief Executive 108,915 

Head of Legal & Governance 70,000 

Head of Communities and Place 70,000 

Finance Manager & s151 officer 60,000 

Post Title Remuneration 

Cleaner 17,842 

Post Title  

Annual Median Pay of all employees, if they were employed full time 22,627 

Pay multiple of Chief executive to Median salary 4.8 

Pay multiple of Chief Executive to lowest paid employee, if they were 
employed full time 

6.1 

Pay multiple of Chief Executive to mean salary if everyone was employed 
full time 

4.34 

Page 81


	Agenda
	6 Budget 2021-22,  Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-22 - 2025-26
	6a - Appendix 1 - Capital Programme - 2021-22  V2
	Recommendation 2 from Internal Overview 21.02.2021

	7 Council Tax Resolution
	8 Treasury Management Report & Capital Strategy
	8a - Appendix 1 - 2021-22 Treasury Management Strategy
	8b- Apendix 2 - List of Approved Counterparties
	8c - Appendix 3 - Prudential Indicators 2021-22 - V2
	8d - Appendix 4 - MRP 2021-22
	8e - Appendix 5 - TDC Capital Strategy - 2021-22 Final
	8f - Appendix 6 - Ethical Investments Recommendation

	9 Pay Policy requirements of the Localism Act
	9a - Pay Policy Statement March 21


